




















































OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

OPERATIONS REVIEW
The primary focus of CNMC in FY2019 was on increasing gold production as well as lead and zinc mineral resources. 
Through continuous geo-exploration, the goal was to further enhance the commercial viability of these resources 
in preparation for production at the Group’s upcoming flotation plant. In line with the objective of expanding the 
Group’s minerals portfolio, time and effort were invested in putting together the first mineral resource estimate 
for CNMC Pulai Mining Sdn Bhd (“CNMC Pulai”) in accordance with the guidelines of the Australasian Code 
for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves 
Committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals 
Council of Australia, December 2012.

The Group embarked on the construction of an underground mining facility at its flagship Sokor gold field in 
FY2019. Notwithstanding the potential to extract high-grade gold ore, which is expected to translate into increased 
bullion production, the Group encountered weak rock masses and water underground in 3Q2019. The construction 
schedule for underground mining was pushed back as a result, as engineers had to resolve these issues and ensure 
the underground environment was safe before work could resume. This affected the Group’s overall production of 
fine gold, which declined 10.6% in FY2019 compared to the previous year.

Construction of the proposed flotation plant for the production of silver, lead and zinc was also delayed as the 
Group had to prepare additional documentation for the relevant authorities to review and approve. Barring any 
unforeseen circumstances and subject to the award of commercial operation permits from the relevant authorities, 
the Group expects to start generating revenue from the production and sale of silver, lead and zinc in FY2021. 

Exploration

The Group’s ongoing exploration programme at Sokor yielded positive results for silver, lead and zinc resources, 
which increased by 74%, 58% and 84% respectively in FY2019 compared to the previous year. This bodes well for 
the upcoming flotation plant. 

Exploration for gold, on the other hand, did not yield enough resources to replenish all the resources depleted 
through mining in FY2019. Taking into account the depletion from mining at Rixen, New Discovery, New Found 
and Ketubong, and based on the additional drilling during FY2019, gold resources at Sokor decreased by 1% or 
approximately 14,000 ounces to 900,000 ounces. However, gold reserves at Sokor increased by 34% to 204,000 
ounces as at 31 December 2019.

The Group completed 69 diamond holes with total drilling footage of 11,096.85 metres at Sokor in FY2019. The 
exploration results along with depleted ore data from all mining activities were incorporated into a FY2019 Qualified 
Person’s Report produced by Australia-based mining services advisory firm Optiro Pty Ltd, CNMC’s independent 
consultant for resources and reserves estimation. 

In the year under review, the Group completed 29 exploration trenches in the 15.5 km2 exploration concession 
held by its 100%-owned Kelgold Mining Sdn Bhd (“Kelgold”). The Group also conducted exploration of the feldspar 
deposit held by its 51%-owned CNMC Pulai, including collection and analysis of rock chip samples and drilling of 
five diamond core holes for analysis and density measurements. From this data, an Inferred Mineral Resource of 
23.7 Mt of feldspar deposits with an average grade of 6.8% Na2O and 2.8% K2O was defined. 
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Mineral Resources

As at 31 December 2019, the total Measured, Indicated and Inferred gold mineral resources at Sokor (above a 0.17 
g/t gold cut-off grade at Rixen and for oxide rock at Ketubong, New Discovery and New Found and above a 0.5 g/
t gold cut-off grade at Manson’s Lode and for transitional and fresh rock at Ketubong, New Discovery and New 
Found) amounted to 16,320 kt at 1.7 g/t gold for 900,000 ounces of contained gold (inclusive of material used to 
define Ore Reserves).  
Silver, lead and zinc resources were reported for Manson’s Lode, both within the gold mineralisation, above a 0.5 
g/t gold cut-off grade, and also external to the gold mineralisation, above a cut-off of 2% lead plus zinc.  Lead and 
zinc resources were reported for Sg Amang above a cut-off of 2% lead plus zinc. With the additional drilling at 
Manson’s Lode and the definition of Mineral Resources at Sg Amang, the total resources for silver, lead and zinc 
mineralisation were 1,720 kt with an average grade of 61 g/t Ag, 2.1% lead and 2.5% zinc for 3,350,000 ounces of 
contained silver, 36,340 tonnes of contained lead and 43,320 tonnes of contained zinc.  
Compared to the Group’s Mineral Resource estimates as at 31 December 2018, there was a decrease of 1% in 
contained gold and increases of 74% in contained silver, 58% in contained lead and 84% in contained zinc as at 31 
December 2019.  

SOKOR PROJECT·MINERAL RESOURCE STATEMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 (INCLUSIVE OF ORE RESERVES)

*Inconsistencies in totals are due to rounding.

Category Mineral 
type

Gross attributable to licence Gross attributable to CNMC

Tonnes
(millions)

Grade
 (Au g/

t, Ag g/t, 
Pb%, Zn%)

Contained 
metal

(Au koz, Ag 
koz,

Pb t, Zn t)

Tonnes
(millions)

Grade
 (Au g/

t, Ag g/t, 
Pb%, Zn%)

Contained 
metal

(Au koz, Ag 
koz,

Pb t, Zn t)

Change 
from 

previous 
update 

(%)

Measured Gold 0.38 2.6 30 0.31 2.6 30 -12%

Indicated Gold 9.44 1.6 480 7.65 1.6 390 10%

Inferred Gold 6.50 1.7 380 5.26 1.7 310 -13%

Total Gold 16.32 1.7 900 13.22 1.7 730 -1%

Measured Silver 0.38 69 860 0.31 69 690 25%

Indicated Silver 0.16 66 340 0.13 66 280 -16%

Inferred Silver 1.17 57 2,150 0.95 57 1,740 156%

Total Silver 1.72 61 3,350 1.39 61 2,710 74%

Measured Lead 0.38 2.0 7,570 0.31 2.0 6,130 50%

Indicated Lead 0.16 1.6 2,610 0.13 1.6 2,120 2%

Inferred Lead 1.17 2.2 26,160 0.95 2.2 21,190 70%

Total Lead 1.72 2.1 36,340 1.39 2.1 29,430 58%

Measured Zinc 0.38 2.1 7,960 0.31 2.1 6,450 25%

Indicated Zinc 0.16 1.8 2,960 0.13 1.8 2,400 -12%

Inferred Zinc 1.17 2.8 32,390 0.95 2.8 26,240 135%

Total Zinc 1.72 2.5 43,320 1.39 2.5 35,090 84%
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The Mineral Resource estimates for Sokor and CNMC Pulai were prepared and classified by Optiro Pty Ltd in 
accordance with the guidelines of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves. The code is prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining 
and Metallurgy, the Australian Institute of Geoscientists and the Minerals Council of Australia, December 2012 (the 
“JORC Code 2012”). 

Ore Reserves

In terms of Ore Reserves, the Sokor project registered a 51% increase as at 31 December 2019 compared to 31 
December 2018 largely due to changes at Rixen relating to changes in the Mineral Resources, reductions due to 
depletion by mining during the year, addition of the deeper extension of the southern pit areas and increases due 
to an increased gold price. The combined gold ore reserve estimates for Rixen, Manson’s Lode and New Discovery 
are shown in the table below. Total Ore Reserves as at 31 December 2019 are reported in accordance with the JORC 
Code 2012. 

OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

*Inconsistencies in totals are due to rounding.

CNMC PULAI PROJECT·MINERAL RESOURCE STATEMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Category Mineral 
type

Gross attributable to licence Gross attributable to CNMC

Tonnes
(millions)

Grade
 (Na₂O%
+K2O%)

Contained 
Na₂O+K2O

Kt

Tonnes
(millions)

Grade
 (Na₂O%
+K2O%)

Contained 
Na₂O+K2O

Kt

Change 
from 

previous 
update 

Measured Feldspar - - - - - - Not 
previously 
reportedIndicated Feldspar - - - - - -

Inferred Feldspar 23.7 9.5 2.5 12.1 9.5 1.3

Total Feldspar 23.7 9.5 2.5 12.1 9.5 1.3
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Growth Strategy

The Group remains fully committed to keeping a lid on expenses. To this end, it continues to work closely with the 
relevant Malaysian authorities to obtain all the relevant approvals and permits for the planned installation of a 
national grid power line at Sokor. The power line, when completed, will enable the Group to reduce its power bill 
substantially as it will no longer to rely on diesel generators for electricity.

The Group is committed to building a flotation plant at Sokor to process ore containing silver, lead and zinc so that 
it can diversify its mining portfolio to include the production and sale of these metals.

The Group will step up efforts on exploration activities to replace depleted resources and to increase gold, silver, 
lead and zinc resources and reserves at Sokor. It also plans to expedite exploration for gold at Kelgold and for 
feldspar at Pulai.   

OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Category Mineral 
type

Gross attributable to licence Gross attributable to CNMC

Tonnes
(kt)

Grade
 (Au g/t )

Contained 
Au

( koz)

Tonnes
(kt)

Grade
 (Au g/t )

Contained 
Au

( koz)

Change 
from 

previous 
update (%)

Ore Reserves

Proved Gold 254 3.0 25 206 3.0 20 -20

Probable Gold 4,238 1.3 180 3,432 1.3 145 73

Total Gold 4,492 1.4 204 3,638 1.4 165 51

Additional Mineral Resources

Measured Gold 129 1.5 6 105 1.5 5 67

Indicated Gold 6,288 1.5 307 5,093 1.5 248 -4

Inferred Gold 7,107 1.7 393 5,757 1.7 319 -10

Total Gold 13,524 1.6 706 10,955 1.6 572 -7

Combined Sokor Project gold Ore Reserves (Manson's Lode, New Discovery, New Found, Ketubong and Rixen) 
and exclusive Mineral Resources (at Manson's Lode, New Discovery and New Found, Rixen and Ketubong that are 
additional to Ore Reserves at Manson's Lode, New Discovery and Rixen) as at 31 December 2019

Notes:  
•	 Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves reported as per the JORC Code 2012 edition
•	 Totals may display rounding inconsistencies
•	 Cut-off grade for Ore Reserves is 0.19 g/t gold for ore going to the heap leach (all Rixen material) and 0.69 g/t gold for transitional and fresh ore going 

to the CIL plant (oxide, transitional and fresh rock from Manson’s Lode, and New Discovery and New Found) and 1.32 g/t gold for fresh ore (UG at 
Ketubong) going to the CIL plant

•	 Cut-off grade for Mineral Resources is 0.17 g/t gold for Rixen, 0.5 g/t gold for oxide, transitional and fresh material outside optimised pit and 0.5 g/t 
gold for Inferred oxide, transitional and fresh material inside the optimised pit

•	 Gold price used for cut-off calculation is US$1,500 /oz for all lodes 
•	 No Inferred material is included in the Ore Reserves
•	 Dilution of 5% and ore loss of 5% have been applied, with zero grade attributed to dilution
•	 Inconsistencies in totals are due to rounding.
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financial review
Revenue and Profitability

The Group’s revenue recorded a slight decrease of 1.1% to US$39.10 million in FY2019 from US$39.55 million in 
FY2018. The decrease was due to the lower production and sales volume of fine gold in FY2019. The decrease in 
sales volume was moderated by an increase in the average realised gold price during FY2019.

The Group’s profit after tax increased by 81.7% to US$5.47 million in FY2019 from US$3.01 million in FY2018, 
mainly due to the absence of expenses relating to the aborted proposed dual listing in Hong Kong in FY2019.   

As a result, the Group’s earnings per share increased by 165.9% to 1.09 US cent in FY2019 from 0.41 US cent in 
FY2018. 

All-in-Costs

In FY2019, all-in costs of US$1,166 per ounce were 11.0% higher than all-in costs of US$1,050 per ounce in FY2018. 
This was mainly due to reduced economies of scale arising from the lower production and sales volume of fine gold 
and higher capital expenditure in non-sustaining operations.

Financial Position 

The Group’s net assets rose by US$3.14 million to US$44.77 million as at 31 December 2019 from US$41.63 million 
as at 31 December 2018. Net asset value per share increased to 10.98 US cents as at 31 December 2019 from 10.21 
US cents as at 31 December 2018. 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of US$16.02 million, a decrease from US$17.91 
million as at the end of the previous year. The decrease was mainly due to the cash used in investing activities for 
the purchase of plant and equipment for the on-going construction of the underground mining structure, expansion 
of production infrastructure and a new flotation plant as well as mine properties and exploration and evaluation 
assets. In addition, there was a net cash used in financing activities arising from dividends paid during the financial 
year. The decrease was partly offset by the cash generated from the Group’s operating activities. 

The Group has no bank borrowings as at 31 December 2019. Loans and borrowings disclosed in the Statement of 
Financial Position includes a convertible bond issued by a subsidiary and lease liabilities.

Dividends

For FY2019, the Company has on November 2019 declared an interim one-tier tax exempt dividend of S$0.002 per 
share, which was paid in December 2019. In addition, the Company has proposed a final tax-exempt dividend of 
S$0.0020 per share and a special tax-exempt dividend of S$0.0040 per share for FY2019, subject to the approval of 
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 

OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Investor Relations 

Gold as an asset class was highly sought after by investors worldwide in 2019 even as global equities delivered 
strong returns. 

The MSCI World Index and the MSCI All-Country World Index increased by nearly 30% last year, as central banks cut 
already-low interest rates even further as part of efforts to bolster economic activity. 

While stronger risk appetites usually mean reduced interest in safe havens, gold notched gains of nearly 20% in 
2019 as a weaker US dollar and record amounts of negative-yielding government and corporate bonds elevated the 
precious metal’s investment appeal. This drove gold prices above US$1,500 an ounce for the first time since 2013. 

For gold producers such as CNMC, the renewed interest in bullion meant higher selling prices. Indeed, our average 
selling price per ounce of gold rose every quarter last year – US$1,293.28 in 1Q2019, US$1,316.67 in 2Q2019, 
US$1,494.95 in 3Q2019 and US$1,496.67 in 4Q2019. For the whole of 2019, our gold bars fetched an average price 
of US$1,389.60, a 10.6% increase from US$1,256.55 for 2018. 

Pitch to Investors

Favourable gold prices became one of our investment merits with the investment community in 2019. It has helped 
mitigate a decline in our quarterly gold production, which has been decreasing since it reached an all-time high in 
4Q2018. 

Still, as gold prices are not within our control, we also sought to diversify our earnings in the longer term and 
assured investors that we still have room for growth. Our action plan involves underground mining, expanding 
production capacity, optimising operational and cost efficiency which includes installing a national grid power line 
at Sokor, and developing a new income stream through the production and sale of silver, lead and zinc.  

We reaffirmed these growth initiatives in all our quarterly meetings and dialogue sessions in 2019 with analysts, 
fund managers and shareholders. We also shared our growth plans with dealers and traders from CGS-CIMB 
Securities, UOB Kay Hian, RHB Securities and Lim & Tan Securities through lunchtime talks at their premises. 

In seeking to tell our story to an even wider audience, we have tapped into the Singapore Exchange’s 10 in 10 
editorial initiative. Designed to be a short read, 10 in 10 provides insights into SGX-listed companies through a series 
of 10 Q&As with management on wide-ranging topics including their business objectives, key revenue drivers, and 
thoughts on their industries. The 10 in 10 profile on CNMC was published on 10 September 2019.

With the run-up in gold prices, we were featured more than once in the print version of The Edge Singapore 
last year ("CNMC Goldmine to strike while the iron is hot, published on 22 November 2019, and Gold shines as 
geopolitical worries grow; coal slumps with call for green energy", published on 20 December 2019). 
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Underground mining is expected to be a key driver in our quest to boost gold production, even as we continue with 
our open-pit mining operation. We started operations in underground mining in 3Q2019 but as with many new 
ventures, there were startup problems in the form of weak rock masses and the presence of water underground. 
However, these issues have since been resolved. 

Unfortunately, we faced another disruption from the COVID-19 virus outbreak, when more than half of our 
underground mining crew were temporarily prohibited from returning to Kelantan after they went back to China’s 
Hubei province for Chinese New Year celebrations. It remains unclear when they can return to Kelantan as travel 
restrictions imposed by China and Malaysia are still in place. 

Notwithstanding the current uncertainty, we believe there is potential to locate and extract high-grade ore through 
underground mining at our flagship Sokor gold field. While the mining business comes with high risks, the returns 
can contribute positively to the Group’s revenue if we take calculated risks and manage them well. These returns 
can then be shared with all shareholders. For 2019, we have proposed a total dividend of 0.8 Singapore cent a 
share, representing about 54% of our earnings, a record dividend payout ratio for CNMC. 
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Group Structure

CNMC Goldmine
Holdings Limited

CMNM Mining 
Group Sdn. Bhd.

Mining rights, covering 
an area of 10 sq km

Exploration and mining rights, 
covering an area of 38.4 sq km Mining rights to extract 

iron ore

Exploration rights, covering an 
area of 15.5 sq km

Investment holding

Management services

Mineral exploration and drilling 
services 

Investment holding

Underground mining services

CNMC 
Pulai Mining 

 Sdn. Bhd.

81%

70%51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%

Sumberjaya Land & 
Mining Sdn. Bhd.

Kelgold Mining 
Sdn. Bhd.

CNMC Goldmine 
Limited

CNMC 
Management Services 

Sdn. Bhd.

CNMC 
Mineral Exploration 

Sdn. Bhd.

CNMC 
Development 
(M) Sdn. Bhd.

CNMC Mining 
Sdn. Bhd.
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INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of CNMC Goldmine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed to ensuring 

that high standards of corporate governance are practiced within the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). 

We believe that good corporate governance principles and practices help to promote corporate transparency, 

accountability and integrity, whilst at the same time, protect and enhance shareholders’ interests.

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist 

(the “Catalist Rules”) requires all listed companies to describe in their annual reports, their corporate governance 

practices, with specifi c reference to the principles of the Code of Corporate Governance dated 6 August 2018 (the 

“Code”).

The Company is pleased to report on its corporate governance practices and activities as required by the Code (this 

“Report”). However, this Report should be read as a whole as other sections of this Annual Report may also have an 

impact on the specifi c disclosures.

Statement of Compliance

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board” or the “Directors”) confi rms that for the fi nancial year ended 31 

December 2019 (“FY2019”), the Company has generally adhered to the principles and provisions as set out in the 

Code, save as otherwise explained below. 

BOARD MATTERS

As at the date of this Report, the Board comprises the following members, all of whom have the appropriate core 

competencies, and diversity of experience needed to enable them to effectively contribute to the Group.

Professor Lin Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye (Chairman and Executive Director)

Mr Choo Chee Kong (Vice Chairman and Executive Director)

Mr Lim Kuoh Yang (Chief Executive Offi cer and Executive Director)

Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck (Lead Independent Director)

Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan (Independent Director)

Ms Gan Siew Lian (Independent Director)

A description of the background and profi le of each director is presented in the “Board of Directors” section of this 

Annual Report.

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

Principle 1:  The company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with 

Management for the long-term success of the company.

Primary function of the Board

The primary function of the Board is to provide effective leadership and direction to enhance the long-term value of the 

Group to its shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board oversees the business affairs of the Group and has the 

overall responsibility for reviewing its strategic plans and performance objectives, fi nancial plans and annual budget, 

key operational initiatives, major funding and investment proposals, fi nancial performance reviews, and corporate 

governance practices.

In addition, the principal duties of the Board include the following:

(a)  to ensure that the necessary fi nancial and human resources are in place for the Group to meet its objectives 

and to monitor the performance of the Group’s management (the “Management”);

(b) to establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed, 

including safeguarding of shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets; and

(c)  to assume responsibilities for corporate governance.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2019

63ANNUAL REPORT 2019

All Directors exercise due diligence and independent judgement. Every Director is expected, in the course of carrying 

out his duties, to act in good faith to provide insights and objectively take decisions in the interest of the Company. Any 

director facing a confl ict of interests will recuse himself from discussions and decisions involving the issue of confl ict. 

Delegation of authority by the Board

In recognition of the high standard of accountability to the Company’s shareholders, the functions of the Board are 

carried out either directly by the Board or through the Board committees namely, the Audit Committee (“AC”), the 

Nominating Committee (“NC”) and the Remuneration Committee (“RC”). Each of these committees has its own 

written terms of reference and is chaired by an independent director and all the members are non-executive and 

independent.

Directors’ attendance at Board and Board committee meetings in FY2019

The Board meets at least four times a year. Additional meetings are convened as and when required. In between 

Board meetings, other important matters will be tabled for the Board’s approval by way of circulating resolutions in 

writing.

The Company’s Constitution (the “Constitution”) allows Directors to participate in a Board meeting via telephonic 

conference. The number of Board and Board committee meetings held in the current fi nancial year and the attendance 

of Directors during these meetings are as follows:

Board

Audit

Committee

Nominating 

Committee

Remuneration

Committee

No. of meetings held 4 4 1 1

No. of meetings attended

Directors

Professor Lin Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye 4 – – –

Choo Chee Kong 4 – – –

Lim Kuoh Yang 4 – – –

Kuan Cheng Tuck 4 4 1 1

Tan Poh Chye Allan 4 4 1 1

Gan Siew Lian 3 4 1 1

Directors with multiple board representations will ensure that suffi cient time and attention are given to the affairs of the 

Group.

The Company recognises that the fl ow of relevant, complete and accurate information on a timely basis is critical 

for the Board to discharge its duties effectively. The Management provides the Board with quarterly management 

accounts, as well as relevant background or explanatory information relating to the matters that would be discussed 

at the Board meetings, prior to the scheduled meetings. All directors are also furnished with updates on the fi nancial 

position and any material developments of the Group as and when necessary.

The Board has separate and independent access to the Company Secretary and the Management at all times. The 

Board will have independent access to professional advice when required at the Company’s expense, subject to the 

approval of the Executive Chairman. 

Under the direction of the Executive Chairman, the Company Secretary facilitates information fl ow within the Board 

and Board committees and between the Management and non-Executive Directors. The Company Secretary attends 

all meetings of the Board and Board committees and ensures that all Board procedures are followed and applicable 

rules and regulations are complied with. The minutes of all Board committee meetings are circulated to the Board. The 

appointment and removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the approval of the Board as a whole.
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Matters which require Board approval

The approval of the Board is required for matters such as corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, material 

acquisitions or disposals of assets, major corporate policies on key areas of operations, corporate actions such as 

share issuance, declaration of interim dividends and proposal of fi nal dividends, and interested person transactions.

Induction and training of Directors

The Company will conduct orientation programmes for newly appointed Directors to ensure that they are familiar with 

the Group’s structure, business and governance policies. All directors who have no prior experience as a director of 

a listed company will undergo training and/or briefi ng on the roles and responsibilities as director of a listed company 

as prescribed by the SGX-ST within one year from his date of appointment to the Board. Newly appointed Directors 

are given a formal letter explaining their duties and obligations as Directors of the Company. No new Director was 

appointed to the Board during FY2019.

At each Board meeting, the Directors will receive updates from the Management on the business and strategic 

developments of the Group, industry developments, analyst and media commentaries on matters related to the 

Company. The Directors may, at any time, visit the Group’s mining sites in order to gain a better understanding of its 

business operations. Changes to regulations and accounting standards are monitored closely by the Management. 

During FY2019, the Directors were briefed by KPMG LLP on the developments in fi nancial reporting standards and the 

changes that affect the Group.

The Company will arrange for appropriate training such as courses and seminars for the Directors as and when 

needed. The Company encourages the Directors to update themselves on new rules and regulations, as well as on 

any revisions, amendments or updates to laws or regulations and attend courses relating to the gold mining industry. 

The Company also informs Directors of and encourages them to attend relevant training programmes conducted 

by the SGX-ST, Singapore Business Federation, Singapore Institute of Directors and other business and fi nancial 

institutions and consultants.

In FY2019, the courses and seminars attended by Directors include updates of Singapore Financial Reporting 

Standards (International) and Anti-Money Laundering / Combating The Financing Of Terrorism Course conducted.

Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2:  The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its 

composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company.

Independence

The Board consists of six Directors, of whom three are considered independent by the Board, namely Mr Kuan Cheng 

Tuck, Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan and Ms Gan Siew Lian. Prof Lin Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye is our Executive Chairman and 

is considered to be non-independent by virtue his familial relationship with the Executive Director and CEO, Mr Lim 

Kuoh Yang. The Company notes that Provision 2.2 of the Code requires that Independent Directors should make 

up a majority of the Board where the Chairman is not independent and that Provision 2.3 of the Code requires that 

non-Executive Directors make up a majority of the Board. However, the Board is of the opinion that there is a strong 

independent element on the Board and given the Group’s current size and operations, it is not necessary nor cost-

effective to have Independent Directors or non-Executive Directors make up a majority of the Board. 

 

The criterion of independence is based on the defi nition set out in the Code and Rule 406(3)(d) of the Catalist Rules. 

The Board considers an “independent” director to be one who has no business relationship with the Company, its 

related companies, its substantial shareholders or its offi cers, and if so, whether such relationships could interfere, or 

be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent business judgment with a view to 

the best interests of the Company. 

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the NC. Each Independent Director is required to 

complete a checklist annually to confi rm his independence based on the guidelines as set out in the Code and Rule 

406(3)(d) of the Catalist Rules. The Independent Directors have confi rmed their independence and the Board has 

determined, taking into account the views of the NC, that all Independent Directors are independent. There is no 

Director who is deemed to be independent by the Board notwithstanding the existence of a relationship set out in the 

Code, that would otherwise deem him not to be independent. 
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The independence of any Director who has served on the Board beyond nine years from the date of his fi rst 

appointment will be subject to more rigorous review, taking into account the need for progressive refreshing of the 

Board. As at the date of this Report, none of the Independent Directors has served on the Board beyond nine years 

from the date of his fi rst appointment. None of the Directors currently serve on the boards of more than two listed 

companies.

Board size, composition and diversity

The Board’s policy in identifying nominees for the Board is primarily to have an appropriate mix of members with 

complementary skills, core competencies and experience for the Group, regardless of gender. The Board is mindful 

that diversity is not specifi c to gender or certain personal attributes and would strive to ensure the diversity would 

enhance the long-term success of the Group. The objective of the policy is to avoid groupthink and foster constructive 

debate and ensure that composition is optimal to support the Group’s needs in the short and long term. 

The Board had reviewed the present Board size and is satisfi ed that the current size facilitates effective decision 

making and is appropriate for the nature and scope of the Group’s operations. The Board’s composition is reviewed 

annually by the NC to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience. The NC is of 

the view that the current Board and Board committees comprise high caliber individuals who are qualifi ed with the 

appropriate mix of expertise, knowledge, skills and experience in areas relating to fi nance, accounting, legal and 

business strategy which provide for the effective functioning of the Board. The NC is of the view that no individual or 

small group of individuals dominate the Board’s decision-making.

Role of Independent Directors

All Directors have equal responsibility for the Group’s operations. The role of the three Independent Directors is 

particularly important in ensuring that all the strategies and objectives proposed by the Management are fully 

discussed and examined, and that they take into account the long-term interests of the shareholders and the Group’s 

employees.

During FY2019, the Independent Directors had met without the presence of Management. Where necessary, the 

Independent Directors will communicate to discuss matters related to the Group, including the performance of the 

Management. Where appropriate, the Lead Independent Director will provide feedback to the Executive Chairman 

after such meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3:  There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, 

and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

The roles of the Executive Chairman and the CEO are separate. The Group’s Executive Chairman, Professor Lin 

Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye, is responsible for formulating the Group’s strategic plans and policies. He also plays a key 

role in developing the business of the Group, maintaining strategic relations with the Group’s business partners and 

providing the Group with strong leadership and vision. He also, with the assistance of the Company Secretary and 

in consultation with Management, sets the agenda for Board meetings and ensures that the said meetings are held 

as and when it is necessary and that the Directors are provided with complete, adequate and timely information. In 

addition, he provides guidance, advice and leadership to the Board and the Management.

The Group’s CEO, Mr Lim Kuoh Yang, is responsible for implementing the strategic plans and policies as well as 

managing the operations of the Group. He is also responsible for reporting to the Board on all aspects of the Group’s 

operations and performance, providing quality leadership and guidance to the employees of the Group and managing 

effective communication with the media, shareholders, regulators and the public. He also takes a leading role in the 

Company’s drive to achieve and maintain a high standard of corporate governance.

Mr Lim Kuoh Yang is the son of Professor Lin Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye. In view of the relationship between the Executive 

Chairman and the CEO, the Board has appointed Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck as the Lead Independent Director to ensure 

that a separate channel of communication is always available to shareholders in the event that contact through 

normal channels of the Executive Chairman, the CEO or the Chief Financial Offi cer (“CFO”) have failed to resolve their 

concerns or where such channel of communication is considered inappropriate. 
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Board Membership

Principle 4:  The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of 

directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

NC composition and key terms of reference

The Company has established the NC to make recommendations to the Board on all board appointments and re-

appointments. The NC comprises Ms Gan Siew Lian, Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck and Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan, all of whom 

are considered independent. The chairman of the NC is Ms Gan Siew Lian. The chairman of the NC is not associated 

with any substantial shareholder of the Company.

The key terms of reference of the NC include:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on all board appointments and re-appointments (including the 

appointment of alternate Directors, if any), and recommending to the Board re-nominations of existing Directors 

for re-election in accordance with the Company’s Constitution, having regard to the Director’s contribution 

and performance (for example, attendance record, preparedness, intensity of participation and candour at 

meetings) and taking into consideration the composition and progressive renewal of the Board;

(b) making recommendations to the Board on all relevant matters relating to the review of succession plans for the 

Directors, in particular, for the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer and key management personnel;

(c) to ensure all Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals and at least once 

every three years;

(d) to determine annually, and as and when circumstances require, whether a Director is independent, bearing in 

mind the guidelines of the Code and the requirements under Rule 406(3)(d) of the Catalist Rules;

(e) in respect of a Director who has multiple board representations on various companies, to decide whether or not 

such Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of the Company, having 

regard to the competing time commitments that are faced when serving on multiple boards; 

(f) to review training and professional development programs for the Board;

(g) to decide how the Board’s performance is to be evaluated and propose an objective performance criteria, 

subject to the approval by the Board, which address how the Board has enhanced long term shareholders’ 

value; and

(h) to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by the Executive Chairman and each 

individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board.

Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolution and making any recommendations and/or 

participating in any deliberations of the NC in respect of matters in which he is interested.

The NC determines annually, and as and when circumstances require, whether a director is independent, taking into 

consideration the disclosures by the Directors of any relationships with the Company, its related corporations, its 

substantial shareholders or its offi cers and the checklist completed by each independent director to confi rm his or 

her independence. Such checklist is drawn up based on the guidelines provided in the Code and the Catalist Rules. 

Having made its review, the NC is of the view that Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck, Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan and Ms Gan Siew Lian 

have satisfi ed the criteria for independence.

Directors’ time commitments and multiple directorships

The Board notes that none of the Directors holds more than two directorships in listed companies. The Board is 

satisfi ed that each Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of the Company 

despite some of the Directors holding multiple board representations. As such, the Board does not propose to set 

the maximum number of listed company board representations which Directors may hold until such need arises. The 

NC will continue to review from time to time the board representations of each Director to ensure that the Directors 

continue to meet the demands of the Group and are able to discharge their duties adequately. Currently, the Company 

does not have alternate directors. 
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Process for selection and appointment of new directors

Where the need for a new Director arises, or where it is considered that the Board would benefi t from the services of 

a new Director with particular skills or to replace a retiring Director, the NC will be responsible for nominating the new 

Director. The NC has put in place a formal process which increases the transparency in identifying and evaluating the 

nominees for directors. The NC leads the process and makes recommendations to the Board as follows:

(a) the NC will evaluate the candidates according to an objective criteria for the assessment which includes the 

candidate’s prior experience as a director of a listed company, expertise to contribute to the Group and its 

businesses, integrity, ability to commit time and effort to carry out duties and responsibilities effectively and 

decision-making skills;

(b) the NC may procure the assistance of independent third parties such as search consultants to source for 

potential candidates, if needed, and Directors are also encouraged to propose candidates based on their 

personal contacts to the Board for consideration;

(c) the NC will evaluate the skills, knowledge and experience of the Board and determine the role and the 

desirable competencies for a particular appointment and arrange to meet up with the short-listed candidates to 

ensure that the candidates are aware of the expectations and the level of commitment required; and

(d) the NC then makes recommendations to the Board for approval.

Process for re-appointment of directors

Article 117 of the Constitution provides that at each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time 

being shall retire from offi ce by rotation. Each Director shall retire at least once every three years. A retiring Director 

shall be eligible for re-election. Under Article 122 of the Constitution, Directors appointed by the Board during the 

fi nancial year, shall only hold offi ce until the next annual general meeting, and thereafter be eligible for re-election at 

the Company’s annual general meeting.

The NC has recommended to the Board that Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck and Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan be nominated for 

re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. In making the recommendation, the NC had considered the 

Directors’ overall contribution and performance based on the assessment parameters.

Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck will, upon re-election as a Director, remain as the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr Kuan 

Cheng Tuck is considered to be independent under Rule 406(3)(d) of the Catalist Rules and the Board considers him 

to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules. There are no relationships including family 

relationships between Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck and the other Directors, the Company and its related corporations, its 

substantial shareholders and its offi cers. 

Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan will, upon re-election as a Director, remain as a member of the Audit Committee. Mr Tan Poh 

Chye Allan is considered to be independent under Rule 406(3)(d) of the Catalist Rules and the Board considers him 

to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules. There are no relationships including family 

relationships between Tan Poh Chye Allan and the other Directors, the Company and its related corporations, its 

substantial shareholders and its offi cers. 

Key information regarding Directors

Key information regarding the Directors, including their shareholdings in the Company, is set out on pages 16 and 80 

of this Annual Report. 

Mr Choo Chee Kong, the Vice Chairman and Executive Director of the Company, holds an indirect interest of less 

than 3% in the issued share capital of CNMC Pulai Mining Sdn. Bhd. (“Pulai Mining”). Save as aforesaid, none of the 

Directors hold shares in the subsidiaries of the Company.
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Board Performance

Principle 5:  The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of the effectiveness as a whole, and that of each 

of its board committees and individual directors.

The Board’s performance is linked to the overall performance of the Group. The Board ensures that the Company is in 

compliance with the applicable laws, and members of our Board are required to act in good faith, with due diligence 

and care, and in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The NC is responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the Board committees, and for 

assessing the contribution of the Chairman and each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board. The NC 

has established a review process and proposed objective performance criteria set out in assessment checklists 

which are approved by the Board. The NC assesses the Board’s effectiveness as a whole by completing a Board 

assessment checklist, which takes into consideration factors such as the Board’s structure, conduct of meetings, 

risk management and internal control, and the Board’s relationship with the Management. The NC also assesses the 

Board’s performance based on a set of quantitative criteria and fi nancial performance indicators as well as share price 

performance. The NC assesses the individual Directors’ performance by completing an individual Director assessment 

checklist, which takes into consideration factors such as commitment of time for meetings, level of participation and 

contribution at such meetings and the technical knowledge of the Directors. 

In view of the size and composition of the Board, the Board deems it unnecessary for the NC to assess the 

effectiveness of each Board committee. 

The performance criteria are not subject to changes from year to year. Nonetheless, where circumstances deem it 

necessary for any of the criteria to be changed, the Board will justify such changes.

The Board and the NC have endeavoured to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess the background, 

experience, business knowledge, fi nance and management skills critical to the Group’s business. They have 

also ensured that each Director, with his special contributions, brings to the Board an independent and objective 

perspective to enable balanced and well-considered decisions to be made.

No external facilitator was used in the evaluation process. 

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 6:  The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on director and 

executive remuneration, and for fi xing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key 

management personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

 

The RC makes recommendations to the Board on the framework of remuneration, and the specifi c remuneration 

packages for each Director.

The RC comprises Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan, Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck and Ms Gan Siew Lian, all of whom are Independent. 

The Chairman of the RC is Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan.

The key terms of reference of the RC include:

(a) to recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and key management personnel, and 

to determine specifi c remuneration packages for each executive Director and any key management personnel. 

The RC shall cover all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Director’s fees, salaries, allowances, 

bonuses, options and benefi ts in kind. If necessary, the RC shall seek expert advice inside and/or outside the 

Company on remuneration of all Directors and/or key management personnel;

(b) to consider what compensation commitments the Directors’ or key management personnel’s contracts of 

service, if any, would entail in the event of early termination with a view to be fair and avoid rewarding poor 

performance as well as to review and recommend to the Board the terms of renewal of the service contracts, 

bearing in mind that they should not be excessively long or contain onerous removal clauses; and
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(c)  to administer any long-term incentive schemes including share schemes which may be implemented by the 

Company, and to consider whether any Director should be eligible for benefi ts under such long-term incentive 

schemes.

Each member of the RC shall abstain from voting on any resolution and making any recommendations and/or 

participating in any deliberations of the RC in respect of matters in which he or she is interested.

The total remuneration of the employees who are related to the Directors will be reviewed annually by the RC to 

ensure that their remuneration packages are in line with the staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their 

respective job scopes and level of responsibilities. In the event that a member of the RC is related to the employee 

under review, he or she will abstain from such review.

The RC has access to appropriate external expert advice in relation to executive compensation, if necessary. In 

FY2019, no remuneration consultants were engaged.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7:  The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are 

appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the company, 

taking into account the strategic objectives of the company.

Remuneration of Executive Directors and key management personnel

The remuneration package for Executive Directors and key management personnel are structured to link rewards 

to corporate and individual performance. The performance related elements of remuneration form a signifi cant 

portion of the total remuneration package in order to align the Executive Directors’ and key management personnels’ 

interests with those of the shareholders and promote the long-term success of the Company. The RC will also take into 

consideration the pay and employment conditions within the industry and comparable companies.

The remuneration for the Company’s Executive Directors and key management personnel comprises a basic salary 

component and a variable component which is a discretionary bonus, based on the performance of the Group as a 

whole and their individual performances. There are no pre-determined performance conditions for the discretionary 

bonus. The discretionary bonus for the Executive Directors and key management personnel will be recommended 

by the RC and subject to approval by the Board, which is based on qualitative criteria (including leadership, people 

development, commitment, teamwork, current market and industry practices) and quantitative criteria (including 

production, profi t after tax and relative fi nancial performance of the Group to its industry peers). 

The Company also ensures that the remuneration is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors to provide 

good stewardship of the Company and key management personnel to successfully manage the Company for the long 

term. No Director is involved in any discussion relating to his own remuneration, terms and conditions of service, and 

the review of his performance.

The Executive Directors have each entered into a service agreement with the Company, under which terms of their 

employment are stipulated. There are no excessively long or onerous removal clauses in these service agreements. 

The employment of each Executive Director shall be automatically renewed on a year-to-year basis on such terms and 

conditions as the parties may agree. Either party may terminate the service agreement by giving to the other party not 

less than six months’ notice in writing, or in lieu of notice, payment of an amount equivalent to six months’ salary based 

on the Executive Director’s last drawn monthly salary. There is no profi t-sharing provision in the service agreements of 

the three Executive Directors.

The RC is of the view that it is currently not necessary to use contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim 

incentive components of remuneration from the Executive Directors and key management personnel in exceptional 

circumstances of misstatement of fi nancial statements, or of misconduct resulting in fi nancial loss to the Company. 

Remuneration of Independent Directors

The Independent Directors receive Directors’ fees in accordance with their contributions, taking into account factors 

such as effort and time spent and their responsibilities. The Directors’ fees are recommended by the RC and endorsed 

by the Board for approval by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting. Except as disclosed in 

this Annual Report, the Independent Directors do not receive any remuneration from the Company.
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Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8:  The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, the procedure for setting remuneration, 

and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation. 

After reviewing the industry practice and analysing the advantages and disadvantages of disclosing the Directors’ 

remuneration in dollar terms, the Company believes that such disclosure would be prejudicial to its business interest, 

given the highly competitive environment of the industry.

The breakdown of the remuneration of the Directors and key management personnel for FY2019 is set out as below: 

Remuneration of Directors for FY2019

Remuneration Band and Name of Director

Base/Fixed

Salary

Director’s

Fees Bonus Total

Between S$2,000,000 and S$2,250,000 per annum 

Professor Lin Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye 35% – 65% 100%

Between S$500,000 and S$750,000 per annum

Lim Kuoh Yang 58% – 42% 100%

Between S$250,000 and S$500,000 per annum

Choo Chee Kong 78% – 22% 100%

Below S$250,000 per annum

Kuan Cheng Tuck – 100% – 100%

Tan Poh Chye Allan – 100% – 100%

Gan Siew Lian – 100% – 100%

Remuneration of key management personnel

Remuneration Band and Name of 

key management personnel

Base/Fixed

Salary Bonus Total

Between S$250,000 and S$500,000 per annum

Kan Wai Khen 56% 44% 100%

Cheam Chee Chian 69% 31% 100%

Lim Kwang Hui 55% 45% 100%

Below S$250,000 per annum

Ang Kee Har 62% 38% 100%

Given the size of the Group’s operations, the Company had identifi ed four key management personnel as above. The 

annual aggregate remuneration paid to the four key management personnel of the Group (who are not directors or the 

CEO of the Company) in FY2019 was S$1,028,840. 

There are no termination or retirement benefi ts or post-employment benefi ts that are granted to the Directors, CEO and 

the key management personnel.

Remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a Director or the CEO

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there were no other employees who were the immediate family members of 

any Director, the CEO or a substantial shareholder of the Company and whose remuneration exceeded S$100,000 in 

FY2019. 

The Company does not have in place any share incentive schemes for FY2019. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9:  The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a 

sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard interests of the company and 

its shareholders.

Risk Management

The Group currently does not have a separate Risk Management Committee but the Management regularly reviews 

the Group’s operational and business activities to identify areas of signifi cant business risks as well as appropriate 

measures to control and mitigate these risks. The Management reviews all the signifi cant control policies and 

procedures and highlights all signifi cant fi ndings and matters to the Directors and the AC. The Board is ultimately 

responsible for the Group’s risk management and determines the nature and extent of the signifi cant risks which the 

Company is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives and value creation.

The Company, together with the internal auditors, has formalised the Group’s Risk Governance and Internal Control 

Framework Manual to facilitate the Board in identifying key operational, strategic, fi nancial, compliance and information 

technology risks with reference to the Company’s business goals, strategies and corporate philosophy. With the 

formalisation of the Group’s Risk Governance and Internal Control Framework Manual, the Company’s risk tolerance 

levels have been established and adopted, and the Board oversees the Management in the design, implementation 

and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. The internal auditors has also evaluated the 

effectiveness of the internal controls implemented to manage the identifi ed risks based on the results of the risk 

assessment process executed.

Internal Controls

The effectiveness of the internal control systems and procedures are monitored by the Management. The Board 

acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but also recognises that no cost effective 

internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed to manage and mitigate 

rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. As such, the internal control framework can only 

provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, whether due to errors or frauds.

Apart from the above, the AC also commissions and reviews the fi ndings of internal controls or any infringement 

of any laws, rules or regulations which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results 

and/or fi nancial position. The Board reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and 

internal control systems, including fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology controls on an annual 

basis. In FY2019, RSM Risk Advisory Pte Ltd was engaged to conduct reviews of the material internal controls and to 

test if the controls were properly implemented.

The Board has received assurance from the CEO and the CFO (a) that the fi nancial records have been properly 

maintained and the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2019 give a true and fair view of the 

Group’s operations and fi nances; and (b) regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 

and internal controls system.

Based on the assurance from the CEO and CFO referred to in the preceding paragraph, the framework of risk 

management and internal controls established and maintained by the Group, the review performed by the 

Management and the AC, the work performed by the internal auditors and the review undertaken by the external 

auditors as part of their statutory audit, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is satisfi ed with the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, including fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology 

controls, and risk management systems as at 31 December 2019.
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Audit Committee

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee (“AC”) which discharges its duties objectively.
 
The AC comprises Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck, Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan and Ms Gan Siew Lian, all of whom are Independent 
Directors. The chairman of the AC is Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck. No former partner or director of the Company’s existing 
audit fi rm or auditing corporation is a member of the AC. The members of the AC have suffi cient accounting or 
fi nancial management expertise, as interpreted by the Board in its business judgment, to discharge the AC’s functions.

The AC assists the Board in discharging its responsibility in safeguarding the Company’s assets, maintaining adequate 
accounting records, and developing and maintaining effective systems of internal controls with an overall objective to 
ensure that the Management has created and maintained an effective control environment in the Group. The AC will 
provide a channel of communication between the Board, the Management and the external and internal auditors of the 
Company on matters relating to audit.

The Directors recognise the importance of corporate governance and in offering high standards of accountability to 
the shareholders. The AC will meet at least quarterly. The key terms of reference of the AC include:-

(a) reviewing the audit plans and scope of work of the external auditors and the internal auditors, including the 
results of the external and internal auditors’ review and evaluation of the Group’s system of internal controls, 
the management letters on the internal controls and the Management’s response, and monitoring the 
implementation of the internal control recommendations made by the external and internal auditors;

(b) reviewing and reporting to the Board at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
controls, including fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology controls and risk management 
systems, prior to the incorporation of such results in the Company’s annual report;

(c) reviewing the interim fi nancial results and annual consolidated fi nancial statements and the external auditors’ 
report on the annual consolidated fi nancial statements, and discussing any signifi cant adjustments, major risk 
areas, changes in accounting policies and practices, signifi cant fi nancial reporting issues and judgements, 
compliance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) as well as compliance with the 
Catalist Rules and other statutory or regulatory requirements, concerns and issues arising from their audits, 
including any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss in the absence of Management to ensure the 
integrity of the fi nancial statements of the Group and any announcements relating to the Company’s fi nancial 
performance, where necessary, before submission to the Board for approval;

(d) making recommendations to the Board on the proposals to the shareholders with regard to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of 
the external auditors;

(e) reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness, scope and results of the external and internal audit and the 
independence and objectivity of the external and internal auditors, and where the external auditor also provides 
a substantial volume of non-audit services to the Company, keeping the nature and extent of such services 
under review, seeking to maintain objectivity;

(f) reviewing the internal controls and procedures and ensuring co-ordination between the external auditors and 
the Management, the assistance given by the Management to the external auditors and discussing problems 
and concerns, if any, arising from the interim and fi nal audits;

(g) reviewing and discussing with the external auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected 
infringement of any relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the 
Group’s operating results or fi nancial position and the Management’s response;

(h)  reviewing and approving interested person transactions and reviewing procedures thereof as well as potential 
confl icts of interest (if any);

(i)  reviewing the policy and arrangements by which employees of the Group and any other persons may, in 
confi dence, report to the Chairman of the AC, concerns about possible improprieties in fi nancial reporting or 
other matters and ensuring that there are arrangements in place for such concerns to be safely raised and 
independently investigated, and for appropriate follow-up action to be taken; and

(j) reviewing the assurance from the Chief Executive Offi cer and the Chief Financial Offi cer on the fi nancial records 
and fi nancial statements.
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The AC has been given full authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and has full access to 

the cooperation of the Management. It also has full discretion to invite any Director or key management personnel to 

attend its meetings, and reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly.

The AC members are briefed and updated by the external auditors on any changes or developments to the 

accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact on fi nancial statements during AC meetings.

Summary of the AC’s activities

In FY2019, the AC met four times with the external auditors and once without the presence of Management. The AC 

also met twice with the internal auditors and once without the presence of Management. These meetings enable the 

auditors to raise issues encountered in the course of their work directly to the AC. 

In FY2019, the AC, amongst other things, carried out the following:

(a) reviewed the quarterly, half-yearly and full year announcements, all material announcements and all related 

disclosures to shareholders before submission to the Board for approval;

(b) reviewed the audit plan and audit report from external auditors;

(c) reviewed the independence and objectivity of the external auditors through discussion with the external 

auditors as well as reviewing the non-audit fees awarded to them. The AC was satisfi ed that the nature and 

extent of such services would not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. Details of 

the fees paid or payable to the external auditors are disclosed in the accompanying fi nancial statements;

(d) recommended to the Board that KPMG LLP be nominated for re-appointment as the Company’s auditors at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company; 

(e) reviewed the reports and fi ndings from the internal auditors in respect of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal controls, including fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology controls; 

and

(f) reviewed the Group’s interested person transactions to ensure that the transactions were carried out on normal 

commercial terms.

The Company has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the Catalist Rules in relation to its external auditors.

Whistle blowing policy

The Company has put in place a whistle blowing policy. The policy encourages employees to raise concerns, in 

confi dence, about possible irregularities to Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck, the Chairman of the whistle blowing committee, or Mr 

Tan Poh Chye Allan, a member of the whistle blowing committee. Such concerns include fraudulent acts, dishonesty, 

legal breaches and other serious improper conduct, unsafe work practices and any other conduct that may cause 

fi nancial or non-fi nancial loss to the Group or damage to the Group’s reputation. It aims to provide an avenue for 

employees to raise concerns and offer reassurance that they will be protected from reprisals or victimisation for whistle 

blowing in good faith.

Whenever a concern is raised under the policy by writing, telephonically or in person to the abovementioned whistle 

blowing committee member, the whistle blower and the report received shall be treated with utmost confi dentiality and 

will be attended to immediately. The whistle blowing policy is posted on a notice board at the Company’s premises. 

The email addresses of Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck and Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan are stated in the whistle blowing policy which 

can be found on the Company’s website www.cnmc.com.hk/whistleblowing_policy.html. 

When making a report, the whistleblower should provide the following information as stated in the whistleblower report 

form:

-  Name, NRIC and contact details;

- Parties involved, time and place of the alleged improprieties;

- Evidence leading to the improprieties, if any; and

- Any other details or documentation that would assist in the evaluation of the improprieties.
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Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for investigation. If investigation is necessary, 
the whistle blowing committee member will direct an independent investigation to be conducted on the complaint 
received. All whistle blowers have a duty to cooperate with investigations.

The AC oversees the administration of the whistle blowing policy. Periodic reports will be submitted to the AC stating 
the number and the complaints received, results of the investigations, follow-up actions required and any unresolved 
complaints. There were no whistle blowing reports received in FY2019.

Internal Audit

The AC selects and approves the appointment of the internal auditors. In FY2019, the Company appointed RSM Risk 
Advisory Pte Ltd as its internal auditors to conduct reviews on material internal controls and to test if the controls 
are properly implemented. The internal auditors report directly to the AC functionally and to the Executive Chairman 
administratively, and has full access to all the Company’s documents, records, properties and personnel. The AC is 
satisfi ed that the internal auditors is staffed with suitably qualifi ed and experienced personnel. 

The AC decides on the timing of the commissioning of the internal audit function from time to time and reviews the 
audit plans of the internal auditors, ensures that adequate resources are directed to carry out those plans and reviews 
the results of the internal auditor’s examination of the Company’s system of internal controls. The AC is satisfi ed that 
the internal audit function is independent, adequately resourced and has the appropriate standing within the Group.

The AC reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function on an annual basis and is satisfi ed with 
its adequacy and effectiveness in FY2019.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11: The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise 
shareholders’ rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting 
the company. The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its 
performance, position and prospects.

Shareholder Rights

The Company supports the Code’s principle to encourage communication with and participation by shareholders. 
Shareholders are informed of general meetings through notices published in the newspapers, through reports or 
circulars sent to all shareholders and via SGXNet. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM to ensure a greater 
level of shareholder participation. The Constitution allows a shareholder of the Company to appoint up to two proxies 
to attend the AGM and vote in place of the shareholder, unless the shareholder is a relevant intermediary (as defi ned 
in Section 181 of the Companies Act). A relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies, but each 
proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such shareholder. 

The Company will not implement absentia voting methods such as voting via mail, e-mail or facsimilie until security, 
integrity and other pertinent issues are satisfactorily resolved.

All resolutions are put to vote by poll and shareholders are entitled to vote in accordance with established voting rules 
and procedures. An announcement of the detailed results is made after the conclusion of the AGM. The Board notes 
that there should be separate resolutions at general meetings on each substantially separate issue and supports the 
Code’s principles as regards “bundling” of resolutions. In the event that there are resolutions which are interlinked, the 
Board will provide reasons and material implications.

All Directors attend the general meetings of shareholders, and the external auditor will also be present to assist in 
addressing queries from shareholders relating to the conduct of audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s 
report. All Directors were present at the last AGM held on 30 April 2019. 

Minutes of general meetings, including relevant substantial comments or queries from shareholders relating to the 
agenda of the meeting and responses from the Board or the Management, are available to shareholders upon their 
request. Notwithstanding that the Company does not publish minutes of general meetings on its corporate website, the 
Company is of the view that shareholders have the opportunity to understand the Group’s performance, position and 
prospects as the Company makes these minutes available to shareholders upon request and upon authentication of 
the shareholder’s identity.
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Dividend Policy

To reward shareholders, the Company is proposing a fi nal dividend of S$0.002 per share and a special dividend 

of S$0.004 per share for FY2019, to be approved by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. In 

November 2019, the Company declared an interim one-tier tax exempt dividend of S$0.002 per share which was paid 

in December 2019.

The Company’s dividend policy is as follows:

(a) in determining the Company’s dividend pay-out ratio in respect of any particular fi nancial year, the Board will 

take into account the Group’s desire to maintain or potentially increase dividend levels in accordance with the 

Company’s overall objective of maximising shareholder value over the longer term; and

(b) to the extent that any dividends are paid in the future, the form, frequency and amount of such dividends will 

depend on the Group’s results of operations, future prospects, fi nancial conditions, other cash requirements 

including projected capital expenditure, other investment plans, the terms of borrowing arrangements (if any), 

dividend yield of comparable companies listed in Singapore, general economic and business conditions in both 

Singapore and Malaysia as well as other factors deemed relevant by the Directors.

The Company aspires to pay dividends of up to 30% of its net profi ts for each fi nancial year going forward, based on 

the recommendations of the Board and subject to the factors described above.

The Directors may recommend or propose fi nal dividends which will be approved by shareholders by way of an 

ordinary resolution at the annual general meeting. The Directors may also declare and pay interim dividends without 

the approval of the shareholders.

Shareholders and investors should note that all the foregoing statements, including the statements in the dividend 

policy mentioned above, are merely statements of the Company’s present intention and shall not constitute a legally 

binding statement in respect of any future dividends which may be subject to modifi cation (including reduction or 

non-declaration thereof) in the Directors’ sole and absolute discretion. No inference shall or can be made from any of 

the foregoing statements as to the Company’s actual future profi tability or ability to pay dividends in any of the periods 

discussed.

Engagement with Shareholders

Principle 12: The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of 

shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate 

their views on various matters affecting the company. 

Disclosure of information on a timely basis

The Board believes in transparency and strives towards timely dissemination of material information to the Company’s 

shareholders and the public. It is the Company’s policy to keep all shareholders informed of developments or 

changes that will have a material impact on the Company’s share price, through announcements via SGXNet. Such 

announcements are communicated on an immediate basis, or as soon as possible where immediate disclosure is not 

practicable. Shareholders are provided with an update on the Group’s performance, position and prospects through 

the Company’s annual report and announcement of fi nancial results.

All shareholders of the Company shall receive the annual report, circular, notice of annual general meeting and notice 

of extraordinary general meeting. In presenting the annual fi nancial statements and fi nancial results announcement 

to shareholders, it is the aim of the Board to provide the shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and 

assessment of the Group’s fi nancial position and prospects.

The Company discloses all material information on a timely basis to all shareholders. Where there is inadvertent 

disclosure made to a select group, the Company will endeavour to make the same disclosure publicly to all 

others promptly. The Company also disseminates information, including the fi nancial reports and annual report, to 

shareholders and the public through its website www.cnmc.com.hk.
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Interaction with shareholders

Apart from the SGXNET announcements and its annual report, the Company updates shareholders on its corporate 

developments as well as solicit and understand shareholders’ views through its quarterly investors’ dialogue sessions, 

pre-annual general meeting conference organised in collaboration with Securities Investors Association.

Shareholders are given the opportunity to pose questions to the Board or the Management at the general meetings. 

The members of the AC, NC and RC will be present at the AGM to answer questions relating to matters overseen by 

the respective committees.

To enhance and encourage communication with shareholders and investors, the Company provides the contact 

information of its investor relations consultants in its press releases. Shareholders and investors can send their 

enquiries through email or telephone.

MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS 

Engagement with Stakeholders

Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of 

material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the 

company are served.

The Company undertakes an annual review in identifying its material stakeholders. 

The Company has identifi ed stakeholders as those who are impacted by the Group’s business and operations as well 

as those who have a material impact on the Group’s business and operations. Such stakeholders include employees, 

contractors and suppliers, government and regulators, community, shareholders and investors. The Company engages 

its stakeholders through various channels to ensure that the business interests of the Group are balanced against the 

needs and interests of its stakeholders. 

Please refer to the Company’s latest sustainability report in this Annual Report for the assessment process and how 

such relationships with stakeholders are managed.

The Company also maintains a corporate website at www.cnmc.com.hk to communicate and engage with 

stakeholders.

OTHER INFORMATION

Dealing with Securities

In line with Rule 1204(19) of the Catalist Rules, the Group has adopted an internal compliance code to guide and 

advise all Directors and executives of the Company with regard to dealing in the Company’s securities.

The internal compliance code prohibits dealings in the Company’s securities by the Company, all Directors and 

executives on short-term considerations or if they are in possession of unpublished price sensitive information of 

the Company. The “black-out” periods are one month prior to the announcement of the Company’s full-year fi nancial 

results and two weeks prior to the announcement for each of the three quarterly fi nancial results by the Company 

and ending on the date of the announcement of the fi nancial results. Following the recent amendments to the Catalist 

Rules, the Company has ceased the quarterly reporting of its fi nancial statements. Thus, in FY2020, the “black-out” 

periods will be one month prior to the announcement of the Company’s half-year and full-year fi nancial results and 

ending on the date of the announcement of the fi nancial results. 

In addition, the Company reminds all the Directors and executives to observe insider-trading rules and laws at all 

times.
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Interested Person Transactions

The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in 

a timely manner to the AC, and that the transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be 

prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.

During FY2019, the Group did not enter into any interested person transactions of S$100,000 and more. The Group 

does not have a general mandate pursuant to Rule 920 of the Catalist Rules for interested person transactions.

Material Contracts

Save for the service agreements between the Executive Directors and the Company, there were no material contracts 

of the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of any Director or controlling shareholders that are either 

still subsisting at the end of FY2019 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous fi nancial year. 

Non-Sponsor Fees

No non-sponsor fees were paid/payable to the Company’s sponsor, PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. for 

FY2019.
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We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited fi nancial 

statements for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2019.

In our opinion:

(a) the fi nancial statements set out on pages 86 to 146 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the 

fi nancial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and the fi nancial performance, 

changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with the 

provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 

(International); and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 

debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these fi nancial statements for issue.

Directors

The directors in offi ce at the date of this statement are as follows:

Professor Lin Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye 

Choo Chee Kong 

Lim Kuoh Yang 

Kuan Cheng Tuck 

Tan Poh Chye Allan  

Gan Siew Lian 

Directors’ interests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the 

Act), particulars of interests of directors who held offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year (including those held by their 

spouses and children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and in related corporations 

(other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows:

Name of director and corporation 

in which interests are held

Holdings at beginning

of the year

Holdings at end 

of the year

Direct

interest

Deemed 

interest

Direct

interest

Deemed 

interest

CNMC Goldmine Holdings Limited

- ordinary shares

 Professor Lin Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye 1,629,900 106,987,500 1,629,900 106,987,500

 Choo Chee Kong 205,000 50,662,500 205,000 46,662,500

 Lim Kuoh Yang 20,000 108,617,400 20,000 108,617,400

CNMC Pulai Mining Sdn. Bhd.

- ordinary shares

 Choo Chee Kong – 52,500 – 52,500

By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Professor Lin Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye and Lim Kuoh Yang are deemed to have interests 

in the other subsidiaries of CNMC Goldmine Holdings Limited at the beginning and at the end of the fi nancial year.

Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had interests in 

shares, debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the 

fi nancial year, or at the end of the fi nancial year.

There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the fi nancial year 

and 21 January 2020.
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Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the fi nancial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 

objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of the 

acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Performance shares

The Company currently has no performance share plan. The Company’s performance share plan, which was approved 

at an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of the Company on 14 October 2011 and amended on 27 

April 2012, was terminated on 4 July 2018.

Share options

During the fi nancial year, there were:

(i) no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued shares in the 

Company or its subsidiaries; and

(ii) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the Company or its 

subsidiaries.

As at the end of the fi nancial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under options.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this statement are:

• Kuan Cheng Tuck (Chairman)

• Tan Poh Chye Allan

• Gan Siew Lian

All the members of the Audit Committee are non-executive directors of the Company who are independent of the 

Group and the Company’s management.

The Audit Committee performs the functions specifi ed in Section 201B of the Act, the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist (the “Catalist Rules”) and the Code of Corporate 

Governance 2018.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings since the last directors’ statement. In performing its functions, the Audit 

Committee met with the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their 

examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

• assistance provided by the Company’s offi cers to the internal and external auditors;

• quarterly fi nancial information and annual fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their 

submission to the directors of the Company for adoption; and

• interested person transactions (as defi ned in Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its 

functions. It has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive offi cer to attend its meetings. The 

Audit Committee also recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-

audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfi ed with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended 

to the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming 

Annual General Meeting of the Company.

In appointing our auditors for the Company and its subsidiaries, we have complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the 

Catalist Rules.



DIRECTORS’  STATEMENT

CNMC GOLDMINE HOLDINGS LIMITED82

Auditors

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Professor Lin Xiang Xiong @ Lin Ye

Director

Choo Chee Kong

Director

30 March 2020
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Report on the audit of the fi nancial statements

Opinion

We have audited the fi nancial statements of CNMC Goldmine Holdings Limited (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries 

(‘the Group’), which comprise the consolidated statement of fi nancial position of the Group and the statement of 

fi nancial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019, consolidated statement of profi t or loss, consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 

fl ows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the fi nancial statements, including a summary of signifi cant 

accounting policies, as set out on pages 86 to 146.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial 

position of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 

(‘the Act’) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (‘SFRS(I)s’) so as to give a true and fair view 

of the consolidated fi nancial position of the Group and the fi nancial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 

and of the consolidated fi nancial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash fl ows of the 

Group for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (‘SSAs’). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the fi nancial statements’ section 

of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority 

Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (‘ACRA Code’) together with 

the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the fi nancial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfi lled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most signifi cance in our audit of the 

fi nancial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the fi nancial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters.

Valuation of exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets of US$9,200,562
(2018: US$9,843,698) (Note 4) and mine properties of US$16,660,862
(2018: US$14,071,703) (Note 5).

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Management is required to assess whether there are 
facts and circumstances indicating that they should test 
the E&E assets and mine properties for impairment. 

This involves significant judgement in the review of 
impairment indicators. If impairment indicators are 
identified, impairment tests will involve the use of 
estimates and assumptions.

We reviewed the Group’s assessment of whether there 
was any indication that the E&E assets and mine 
properties may be impaired.

For E&E assets, we checked the relevant licenses to 
determine whether the Group has the rights to conduct 
exploration activities. We also checked that the Group 
has the intention and financial ability to carry out 
exploration activities in the relevant exploration areas. 

The Group has engaged external specialists to provide 
an estimate of the reserves and resources at Sokor. We 
assessed the objectivity and competency of the external 
specialists and considered whether the latest estimate 
provided in April 2019 was indicative of impairment.

Our fi ndings

The judgement applied by management in determining whether there was any indication of impairment on E&E 
assets and mine properties was appropriate.

The external specialists belong to the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and their report issued in April 
2019 did not indicate triggers of impairment.
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other information is defi ned as all 

information in the annual report other than the fi nancial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditors’ report except for the Operations review, 

Qualifi ed person’s report and Statistics of Shareholding (‘the Reports’) which are expected to be made available to us 

after that date.

Our opinion on the fi nancial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the fi nancial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identifi ed 

above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the fi nancial statements 

or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ 

report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Reports, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 

communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions in accordance with SSAs.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the fi nancial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 

with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting 

controls suffi cient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised 

use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 

preparation of true and fair fi nancial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the fi nancial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 

of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s fi nancial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the fi nancial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to infl uence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these fi nancial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffi cient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast signifi cant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 

fi nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the fi nancial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the fi nancial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain suffi cient appropriate audit evidence regarding the fi nancial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

signifi cant audit fi ndings, including any signifi cant defi ciencies in internal controls that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 

on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most signifi cance in the 

audit of the fi nancial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 

matters in our auditors’ report unless the law or regulations preclude public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefi ts of such 

communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 

subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Lim Pang Yew, Victor.

KPMG LLP

Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

30 March 2020
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Group Company

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

US$ US$ US$ US$

Assets

Exploration and evaluation assets 4 9,200,562 9,843,698 – –

Mine properties 5 16,660,862 14,071,703 – –

Property, plant and equipment 6 17,286,058 13,030,161 187,968 135,748

Interests in subsidiaries 7 – – 11,450,263 11,450,251

Deferred tax assets 8 249,968 – – –

Mine rehabilitation fund 9 672,302 672,302 – –

Non-current assets 44,069,752 37,617,864 11,638,231 11,585,999

Inventories 10 1,870,128 2,008,247 – –

Current tax assets – – 8,883 –

Trade and other receivables 11 1,507,980 2,972,381 12,811,262 11,428,791

Cash and cash equivalents 12 16,016,461 17,910,184 175,166 167,479

Current assets 19,394,569 22,890,812 12,995,311 11,596,270

Total assets 63,464,321 60,508,676 24,633,542 23,182,269

Equity

Share capital 13 18,032,233 18,032,233 18,032,233 18,032,233

Preference shares 13 2,800 2,800 – –

Reserves 15 3,141,500 3,148,287 (13,860) (13,860)

Retained earnings/(Accumulated losses) 23,595,320 20,442,393 (292,414) (1,983,437)

Equity attributable to owners of the 

Company 44,771,853 41,625,713 17,725,959 16,034,936

Non-controlling interests 16 7,380,123 7,106,887 – –

Total equity 52,151,976 48,732,600 17,725,959 16,034,936

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 17 776,185 722,937 8,390 –

Derivative fi nancial instrument 18 27,516 27,222 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 8 – 202,089 – –

Rehabilitation obligations 19 2,047,695 1,681,476 – –

Non-current liabilities 2,851,396 2,633,724 8,390 –

Loans and borrowings 17 186,215 61,135 105,406 –

Trade and other payables 20 6,750,528 7,189,033 6,793,787 7,147,333

Dividends payable 534,482 1,052,957 – –

Current tax liabilities 989,724 839,227 – –

Current liabilities 8,460,949 9,142,352 6,899,193 7,147,333

Total liabilities 11,312,345 11,776,076 6,907,583 7,147,333

Total equity and liabilities 63,464,321 60,508,676 24,633,542 23,182,269
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Note 2019 2018

US$ US$

Revenue 21 39,098,825 39,547,621

Other income 22 256,909 824,302

Changes in inventories (137,839) 210,650

Amortisation and depreciation 23 (4,693,186) (5,037,246)

Employee benefi ts expenses (4,380,053) (4,530,629)

Key management remuneration (3,192,260) (3,341,632)

Marketing and publicity expenses (449,385) (623,413)

Offi ce and administration expenses (365,094) (286,699)

Professional fees (575,949) (856,134)

Rental and other lease expenses (1,911,323) (1,785,562)

Royalty and tribute fee expenses (4,923,821) (5,146,631)

Site and factory expenses (11,946,794) (12,064,650)

Travelling and transportation expenses (365,304) (360,140)

Listing expenses – (1,986,197)

Other expenses 24 (6,922) (430,839)

Total expenses (32,947,930) (36,239,122)

Finance income 25 556,136 550,532

Finance costs 25 (89,605) (90,243)

Net fi nance income 466,531 460,289

Profi t before tax 6,874,335 4,593,090

Tax expense 26 (1,401,885) (1,581,974)

Profi t for the year 27 5,472,450 3,011,116

Profi t attributable to:

Owners of the Company 4,440,330 1,681,210

Non-controlling interests 16 1,032,120 1,329,906

Profi t for the year 5,472,450 3,011,116

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted (cents) 28 1.09 0.41



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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2019 2018

US$ US$

Profi t for the year 5,472,450 3,011,116

Other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss:

Exchange differences arising on consolidation of foreign subsidiaries (5,332) 22,398

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (5,332) 22,398

Total comprehensive income for the year 5,467,118 3,033,514

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 4,433,543 1,679,062

Non-controlling interests 1,033,575 1,354,452

Total comprehensive income for the year 5,467,118 3,033,514



C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 C

H
A

N
G

E
S

 I
N

 E
Q

U
IT

Y
Ye

ar
 e

nd
ed

 3
1 

D
ec

em
b

er
 2

01
9

A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
01

9
89

T
h

e
 a

c
c

o
m

p
a

n
y
in

g
 n

o
te

s
 f

o
rm

 a
n

 i
n

te
g

ra
l 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

s
e

 fi
 n

a
n

c
ia

l 
s
ta

te
m

e
n

ts
.

N
o

te

S
h

a
re

c
a
p

it
a
l

T
re

a
s
u

ry

s
h

a
re

s

P
re

fe
re

n
c
e

s
h

a
re

s

C
a
p

it
a
l

re
s
e
rv

e

T
ra

n
s

la
ti

o
n

 

re
s

e
rv

e

R
e

ta
in

e
d

 

e
a

rn
in

g
s

T
o

ta
l

a
tt

ri
b

u
ta

b
le

 

to
 o

w
n

e
rs

 

o
f 

th
e

 

C
o

m
p

a
n

y

N
o

n
-

c
o

n
tr

o
ll

in
g

 

in
te

re
s

ts

T
o

ta
l

e
q

u
it

y

G
ro

u
p

U
S

$
U

S
$

U
S

$
U

S
$

U
S

$
U

S
$

U
S

$
U

S
$

U
S

$

A
t 

1
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
1
8

1
8
,0

3
2
,2

3
3

(2
0
0
,8

4
5
)

2
,8

0
0

3
,1

2
5
,7

5
2

(2
1

,5
0

8
)

1
9

,5
0

4
,0

2
3

4
0

,4
4

2
,4

5
5

6
,7

5
4

,7
9

3
4

7
,1

9
7

,2
4

8

T
o

ta
l 

c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 i

n
c
o

m
e
 f

o
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r

P
ro

fi 
t 

fo
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r

–
–

–
–

–
1

,6
8

1
,2

1
0

1
,6

8
1

,2
1

0
1

,3
2

9
,9

0
6

3
,0

1
1

,1
1

6

O
th

e
r 

c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 i

n
c
o

m
e

E
x
c
h
a
n
g

e
 d

if
fe

re
n
c
e
s
 a

ri
s
in

g
 o

n
 

c
o
n
s
o
lid

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
fo

re
ig

n
 s

u
b

s
id

ia
ri
e
s

–
–

–
–

(2
,1

4
8

)
–

(2
,1

4
8

)
2

4
,5

4
6

2
2

,3
9

8

T
o

ta
l 

o
th

e
r 

c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 i

n
c
o

m
e

–
–

–
–

(2
,1

4
8

)
–

(2
,1

4
8

)
2

4
,5

4
6

2
2

,3
9

8

T
o

ta
l 

c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 i

n
c
o

m
e
 f

o
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r

–
–

–
–

(2
,1

4
8

)
1

,6
8

1
,2

1
0

1
,6

7
9

,0
6

2
1

,3
5

4
,4

5
2

3
,0

3
3

,5
1

4

T
ra

n
s
a
c
ti

o
n

s
 w

it
h

 o
w

n
e
rs

, 
re

c
o

g
n

is
e
d

 

d
ir

e
c
tl

y
 i

n
 e

q
u

it
y

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s
 t

o
 o

w
n

e
rs

F
in

a
l 
d

iv
id

e
n
d

s
 d

e
c
la

re
d

 f
o
r 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d

e
d

 3
1
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
7

2
9

–
–

–
–

–
(6

1
7

,9
7

4
)

(6
1

7
,9

7
4

)
–

(6
1

7
,9

7
4

)

D
iv

id
e
n
d

s
 p

a
id

 t
o
 n

o
n
-c

o
n
tr

o
lli

n
g

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

2
9

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
(9

8
2

,8
9

9
)

(9
8

2
,8

9
9

)

P
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 s

h
a
re

s
 d

iv
id

e
n
d

s
 d

e
c
la

re
d

 b
y
 

s
u
b

s
id

ia
ry

 f
o
r 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d

e
d

 3
1
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
8

2
9

–
–

–
–

–
(1

2
4

,8
6

6
)

(1
2

4
,8

6
6

)
(2

9
,2

8
9

)
(1

5
4

,1
5

5
)

P
u
rc

h
a
s
e
 o

f 
tr

e
a
s
u
ry

 s
h
a
re

s
1
4

–
(3

6
0
,5

3
5
)

–
–

–
–

(3
6

0
,5

3
5

)
–

(3
6

0
,5

3
5

)

Tr
e
a
s
u
ry

 s
h
a
re

s
 r

e
is

s
u
e
d

 p
u
rs

u
a
n
t 

to
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s

h
a
re

 p
la

n
1
4

–
5
6
1
,3

8
0

–
(1

3
,8

6
0
)

–
–

5
4

7
,5

2
0

–
5

4
7

,5
2

0

S
tr

ik
in

g
 o

ff
 o

f 
s
u
b

s
id

ia
ri
e
s

–
–

–
–

6
0

,0
5

1
–

6
0

,0
5

1
9

,8
3

0
6

9
,8

8
1

T
o

ta
l 

d
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s
 t

o
 o

w
n

e
rs

–
2
0
0
,8

4
5

–
(1

3
,8

6
0
)

6
0

,0
5

1
(7

4
2

,8
4

0
)

(4
9

5
,8

0
4

)
(1

,0
0

2
,3

5
8

)
(1

,4
9

8
,1

6
2

)

T
o

ta
l 

tr
a
n

s
a
c
ti

o
n

s
 w

it
h

 o
w

n
e
rs

–
2
0
0
,8

4
5

–
(1

3
,8

6
0
)

6
0

,0
5

1
(7

4
2

,8
4

0
)

(4
9

5
,8

0
4

)
(1

,0
0

2
,3

5
8

)
(1

,4
9

8
,1

6
2

)

A
t 

3
1
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
8

1
8
,0

3
2
,2

3
3

–
2
,8

0
0

3
,1

1
1
,8

9
2

3
6

,3
9

5
2

0
,4

4
2

,3
9

3
4

1
,6

2
5

,7
1

3
7

,1
0

6
,8

8
7

4
8

,7
3

2
,6

0
0



C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 C

H
A

N
G

E
S

 I
N

 E
Q

U
IT

Y
  (

C
O

N
T

’D
)

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
01

9

C
N

M
C

 G
O

L
D

M
IN

E
 H

O
L

D
IN

G
S

 L
IM

IT
E

D
90

T
h

e
 a

c
c

o
m

p
a

n
y
in

g
 n

o
te

s
 f

o
rm

 a
n

 i
n

te
g

ra
l 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

s
e

 fi
 n

a
n

c
ia

l 
s
ta

te
m

e
n

ts
.

N
o

te
S

h
a
re

c
a
p

it
a
l

T
re

a
s
u

ry
s
h

a
re

s
P

re
fe

re
n

c
e

s
h

a
re

s
C

a
p

it
a
l

re
s
e
rv

e
T
ra

n
s

la
ti

o
n

 
re

s
e

rv
e

R
e

ta
in

e
d

 
e

a
rn

in
g

s

T
o

ta
l 

a
tt

ri
b

u
ta

b
le

to
 o

w
n

e
rs

 
o

f 
th

e
 

C
o

m
p

a
n

y

N
o

n
-

c
o

n
tr

o
ll

in
g

 
in

te
re

s
ts

T
o

ta
l

e
q

u
it

y

G
ro

u
p

U
S

$
U

S
$

U
S

$
U

S
$

U
S

$
U

S
$

U
S

$
U

S
$

U
S

$

A
t 

1
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
1
9

1
8
,0

3
2
,2

3
3

–
2
,8

0
0

3
,1

1
1
,8

9
2

3
6

,3
9

5
2

0
,4

4
2

,3
9

3
4

1
,6

2
5

,7
1

3
7

,1
0

6
,8

8
7

4
8

,7
3

2
,6

0
0

T
o

ta
l 

c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 i

n
c
o

m
e
 f

o
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r

P
ro

fi 
t 

fo
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r

–
–

–
–

–
4

,4
4

0
,3

3
0

4
,4

4
0

,3
3

0
1

,0
3

2
,1

2
0

5
,4

7
2

,4
5

0

O
th

e
r 

c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 i

n
c
o

m
e

E
x
c
h
a
n
g

e
 d

if
fe

re
n
c
e
s
 a

ri
s
in

g
 o

n
 c

o
n
s
o
lid

a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

fo
re

ig
n
 s

u
b

s
id

ia
ri
e
s

–
–

–
–

(6
,7

8
7

)
–

(6
,7

8
7

)
1

,4
5

5
(5

,3
3

2
)

T
o

ta
l 

o
th

e
r 

c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 i

n
c
o

m
e

–
–

–
–

(6
,7

8
7

)
–

(6
,7

8
7

)
1

,4
5

5
(5

,3
3

2
)

T
o

ta
l 

c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 i

n
c
o

m
e
 f

o
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r

–
–

–
–

(6
,7

8
7

)
4

,4
4

0
,3

3
0

4
,4

3
3

,5
4

3
1

,0
3

3
,5

7
5

5
,4

6
7

,1
1

8

T
ra

n
s
a
c
ti

o
n

s
 w

it
h

 o
w

n
e
rs

, 
re

c
o

g
n

is
e
d

 
d

ir
e
c
tl

y
 i

n
 e

q
u

it
y

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s
 t

o
 o

w
n

e
rs

F
in

a
l 
d

iv
id

e
n
d

s
 d

e
c
la

re
d

 f
o
r 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d

e
d

 
3
1
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
8

2
9

–
–

–
–

–
(5

9
8

,9
0

1
)

(5
9

8
,9

0
1

)
–

(5
9

8
,9

0
1

)

F
ir
s
t 

in
te

ri
m

 d
iv

id
e
n
d

s
 d

e
c
la

re
d

 f
o
r 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d

e
d

 
3
1
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
9

–
–

–
–

–
(5

9
8

,5
7

5
)

(5
9

8
,5

7
5

)
–

(5
9

8
,5

7
5

)

D
iv

id
e
n
d

s
 p

a
id

 t
o
 n

o
n
-c

o
n
tr

o
lli

n
g

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

2
9

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
(7

3
9

,2
5

7
)

(7
3

9
,2

5
7

)

P
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 s

h
a
re

s
 d

iv
id

e
n
d

s
 d

e
c
la

re
d

 b
y
 

s
u
b

s
id

ia
ry

 f
o
r 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d

e
d

 3
1
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
9

2
9

–
–

–
–

–
(8

9
,9

2
7

)
(8

9
,9

2
7

)
(2

1
,0

9
4

)
(1

1
1

,0
2

1
)

T
o

ta
l 

d
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s
 t

o
 o

w
n

e
rs

–
–

–
–

–
(1

,2
8

7
,4

0
3

)
(1

,2
8

7
,4

0
3

)
(7

6
0

,3
5

1
)

(2
,0

4
7

,7
5

4
)

C
h

a
n

g
e
s
 i

n
 o

w
n

e
rs

h
ip

 i
n

te
re

s
ts

 i
n

 
s
u

b
s
id

ia
ri

e
s

A
c
q

u
is

it
io

n
 o

f 
s
u
b

s
id

ia
ry

 w
it
h
 n

o
n
-c

o
n
tr

o
lli

n
g

 
in

te
re

s
ts

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
1
2

1
2

T
o

ta
l 

c
h

a
n

g
e
s
 i

n
 o

w
n

e
rs

h
ip

 i
n

te
re

s
ts

 
in

 s
u

b
s
id

ia
ri

e
s

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
1
2

1
2

T
o

ta
l 

tr
a
n

s
a
c
ti

o
n

s
 w

it
h

 o
w

n
e
rs

–
–

–
–

–
(1

,2
8

7
,4

0
3

)
(1

,2
8

7
,4

0
3

)
(7

6
0

,3
3

9
)

(2
,0

4
7

,7
4

2
)

A
t 

3
1
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
9

1
8
,0

3
2
,2

3
3

–
2
,8

0
0

3
,1

1
1
,8

9
2

2
9

,6
0

8
2

3
,5

9
5

,3
2

0
4

4
,7

7
1

,8
5

3
7

,3
8

0
,1

2
3

5
2

,1
5

1
,9

7
6



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2019

91ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Note 2019 2018

US$ US$

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Profi t for the year 5,472,450 3,011,116

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of mine properties 23 1,380,106 1,921,441

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 23 3,313,080 3,115,805

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6,647) (135,026)

Interest expense 25 89,605 90,243

Interest income 25 (556,136) (550,532)

Plant and equipment written off – 117,927

Unrealised (gain)/loss on foreign exchange (79,123) 232,875

Tax expenses 1,401,885 1,581,974

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions – 547,520

Striking off of subsidiaries – 69,881

Reversal of tax penalty estimate – (428,501)

Change in fair value of derivative fi nancial instrument – (127,860)

11,015,220 9,446,863

Changes in:

- Inventories 138,119 (995,118)

- Trade and other receivables 1,462,290 (1,574,685)

- Rehabilitation obligations, and trade and other payables (1,697,789) (66,438)

Cash generated from operations 10,917,840 6,810,622

Interest received 556,136 550,532

Interest paid (89,605) (90,243)

Tax refund 320,320 –

Tax paid (2,195,622) (851,409)

Net cash generated from operating activities 9,509,069 6,419,502

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Payment for exploration and evaluation assets, and mine properties (1,993,675) (1,533,703)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 6,647 135,026

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (6,778,025) (5,071,105)

Net cash used in investing activities (8,765,053) (6,469,782)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities 

Purchase of treasury shares – (360,535)

Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company (1,197,476) (617,974)

Dividends paid to preference shares holder and non-controlling interests (1,401,755) (374,680)

Payment of lease liabilities (2018: payment of fi nance lease liabilities) (187,054) (57,552)

Net cash used in fi nancing activities (2,786,285) (1,410,741)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,042,269) (1,461,021)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 17,910,184 19,491,957

Effect of exchange rate fl uctuations on cash held 148,546 (120,752)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 12 16,016,461 17,910,184

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost 
of US$7,459,450 (2018: US$5,828,163) of which US$113,339 (2018: US$185,081) were acquired by means of lease 
arrangements. As at 31 December 2019, a total consideration of US$568,086 (2018: US$571,977) was yet to be paid 
to third parties.

The Group also acquired exploration and evaluation assets and mine properties with an aggregate cost of 
US$3,283,491 (2018: US$2,929,021). As at 31 December 2019, a total consideration of US$1,289,816 (2018: 
US$1,395,318) was yet to be paid to third parties. 
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These notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.

The fi nancial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2020.

1 Domicile and activities

 CNMC Goldmine Holdings Limited is a company incorporated in Singapore. The address of the Company’s 

registered offi ce is 745 Lorong 5 Toa Payoh, #04-01 The Actuary, Singapore 319455.

 The fi nancial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company 

and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”).

 The principal activities of the Company are those of an investment holding and management company. The 

principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 7 to the fi nancial statements.

2 Basis of preparation

2.1 Statement of compliance

 The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 

(International) (SFRS(I)).

2.2 Basis of measurement

 The fi nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the 

notes below.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

 The fi nancial statements are presented in United States Dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

 Information about signifi cant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 

policies that have the most signifi cant effect on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements and that 

have a signifi cant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next fi nancial year are included in the 

following notes:

 • Note 4 – Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

 • Note 5 – Impairment and amortisation of mine properties
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2 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements (cont’d)

 (i) Measurement of fair values

  A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for 

both fi nancial and non-fi nancial assets and liabilities.

  The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. The 

fi nance team has overall responsibility for all signifi cant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair 

values, and reports directly to the Chief Financial Offi cer.

  The fi nance team regularly reviews signifi cant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third 
party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the 
fi nance team assesses and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the 
conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of SFRS(I), including the level in the fair value 
hierarchy in which such valuations should be classifi ed.

  Signifi cant valuation issues are reported to the Audit Committee.

  When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far 
as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs 
used in the valuation techniques as follows:

  • Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

  • Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

  • Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).

  If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair 
value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair 
value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is signifi cant to the entire measurement (with Level 3 being 
the lowest). 

  The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting 
period during which the change has occurred.

  Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following 
notes:

  • Note 18 – Derivative fi nancial instrument 

  • Note 34 – Financial instruments 
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2 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

2.5 Changes in accounting policies

 New standards and amendments

 The Group has applied the following SFRS(I)s, amendments to and interpretations of SFRS(I) for the fi rst time 
for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2019:

 • SFRS(I) 16 Leases

 • SFRS(I) INT 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

 • Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-28)

 • Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to SFRS(I) 9) 

 • Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation (Amendments to SFRS(I) 3 and 11)

 • Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial Instruments Classifi ed as Equity (Amendments to 
SFRS(I) 1-12)

 • Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalisation (Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-23)

 • Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-19)

 Other than SFRS(I) 16, the application of these amendments to standards and interpretations does not have a 
material effect on the fi nancial statements.

 SFRS(I) 16 Leases

 The Group applied SFRS(I) 16 using the modifi ed retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect 

of initial application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the comparative 

information presented for 2018 is not restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under SFRS(I) 1-17 

and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed below. Additionally, 

the disclosure requirements in SFRS(I) 16 have not generally been applied to comparative information.

 Defi nition of a lease

 Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a lease under 

SFRS(I) INT 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The Group now assesses whether a 

contract is or contains a lease based on the defi nition of a lease, as explained in SFRS(I) 16.

 On transition to SFRS(I) 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment 

of which transactions are leases. The Group applied SFRS(I) 16 only to contracts that were previously identifi ed 

as leases. Contracts that were not identifi ed as leases under SFRS(I) 1-17 and SFRS(I) INT 4 were not 

reassessed for whether there is a lease under SFRS(I) 16. Therefore, the defi nition of a lease under SFRS(I) 16 

was applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

 As a lessee

 As a lessee, the Group leases many assets including offi ces and offi ce equipment. The Group previously 

classifi ed leases as operating or fi nance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred 

signifi cantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the Group. Under 

SFRS(I) 16, the Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for most of these leases – i.e. these 

leases are on-balance sheet.

 At commencement or on modifi cation of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 

consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price. However, 

for leases of offi ces, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease 

and associated non-lease components as a single lease component.
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2 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

2.5 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

 Leases classifi ed as operating leases under SFRS(I) 1-17

 Previously, the Group classifi ed property leases as operating leases under SFRS(I) 1-17. On transition, for these 

leases, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the 

respective lessee entities’ incremental borrowing rates applicable to the leases as at 1 January 2019. Right-of-

use assets are measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or 

accrued lease payments.

 The Group has tested its right-of-use assets for impairment on the date of transition and has concluded that 

there is no indication that the right-of-use assets are impaired.

 The Group used a number of practical expedients when applying SFRS(I) 16 to leases previously classifi ed as 

operating leases under SFRS(I) 1-17. In particular, the Group:

 • did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 

months of the date of initial application;

 • did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases of low value assets (e.g. other equipment);

 • excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial 

application; and

 • used hindsight when determining the lease term.

 Leases classifi ed as fi nance leases under SFRS(I) 1-17

 The Group leases a number of items of motor vehicles. These leases were classifi ed as fi nance leases under 

SFRS(I) 1-17. For these fi nance leases, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability at 1 

January 2019 were determined at the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability under SFRS(I) 1-17 

immediately before that date.

 Impact on fi nancial statements

 Impact on transition*

 On transition to SFRS(I) 16, the Group and the Company recognised additional right-of-use assets, including 

offi ces and offi ce equipment, and additional lease liabilities. The impact on transition is summarised below.

Group Company

1 January 2019

US$ US$

Right-of-use assets – property, plant and equipment 241,412 203,724

Lease liabilities (241,412) (203,724)

 * For the impact of SFRS(I) 16 on profi t or loss for the period, see note 31. For the impact of SFRS(I) 16 on segment 

information, see note 30. For the details of accounting policies under SFRS(I) 16 and SFRS(I) 1-17, see note 3.6.
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2 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

2.5 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

 When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classifi ed as operating leases, the Group discounted lease 

payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019. The borrowing rates applied are between 3% 

and 11%.

Group Company

1 January 2019

US$ US$

Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 as disclosed under 

SFRS(I) 1-17 in the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements 252,398 208,414

Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 241,912 202,040

Finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2018 188,454 –

- Recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets (2,184) –

- Recognition for other additional lease 1,684 1,684

Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 429,866 203,724

3 Signifi cant accounting policies

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these fi nancial 

statements, except as explained in note 2.5, which addresses changes in accounting policies. 

3.1 Basis of consolidation

 (i) Business combinations

  The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred 

to the Group.

  Acquisitions from 1 January 2017

  For acquisitions from 1 January 2017, the Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

  • the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

  • the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

  • if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interests 

in the acquiree, 

  over the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifi able assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment.

  When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profi t or loss. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 

relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profi t or loss.

  Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 

share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the 

non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifi able 

net assets, at the date of acquisition. The measurement basis taken is elected on a transaction-by-

transaction basis. All other non-controlling interests are measured at acquisition-date fair value, unless 

another measurement basis is required by SFRS(I)s.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

 (i) Business combinations (cont’d)

  Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity investments, 

that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

  Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 

as transactions with owners in their own capacity as owners and therefore no adjustments are made 

to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised in profi t or loss. Adjustments to non-controlling interests 

arising from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of 

the net assets of the subsidiary.

 (ii) Subsidiaries

  Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, 

or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the entity. The fi nancial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 

consolidated fi nancial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control 

ceases.

  The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the 

policies adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are 

allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a 

defi cit balance.

 (iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

  Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 (iv) Loss of control

  When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 

subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain 

or loss is recognised in profi t or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair 

value when control is lost.

 (v) Subsidiaries in the separate fi nancial statements

  Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s statement of fi nancial position at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses.

3.2 Foreign currency

 (i) Foreign currency transactions

  Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities 

at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the 

exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference 

between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective 

interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the 

exchange rate at the end of the year.

  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value 

are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 

determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are 

translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on 

translation are generally recognised in profi t or loss.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.2 Foreign currency (cont’d)

 (ii) Foreign operations

  The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 

acquisition, are translated to United States Dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income 

and expenses of foreign operations are translated to United States Dollars at exchange rates at the 

dates of the transactions.

  Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the 

foreign currency translation reserve (“translation reserve”) in equity. However, if the foreign operation 

is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is 

allocated to the non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, 

signifi cant infl uence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to 

that foreign operation is reclassifi ed to profi t or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the 

Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining 

control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests.

  When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither 

planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising 

from such monetary items are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation are 

recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented in the translation reserve in equity.

3.3 Financial instruments

 (i) Recognition and initial measurement

  Non-derivative fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities

  Trade receivables issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other fi nancial assets and 
fi nancial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument.

  A fi nancial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a signifi cant fi nancing component) or fi nancial 
liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profi t or loss (“FVTPL”), 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a 
signifi cant fi nancing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

 (ii) Classifi cation and subsequent measurement

  Non-derivative fi nancial assets

  On initial recognition, a fi nancial asset is classifi ed as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL.

  Financial assets are not reclassifi ed subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its 
business model for managing fi nancial assets, in which case all affected fi nancial assets are reclassifi ed 
on the fi rst day of the fi rst reporting period following the change in the business model.

  Financial assets at amortised cost

  A fi nancial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:

  • it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
fl ows; and

  • its contractual terms give rise on specifi ed dates to cash fl ows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.3 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 (ii) Classifi cation and subsequent measurement (cont’d)

  Financial assets: Business model assessment

  The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a fi nancial asset is 
held at a portfolio level because this best refl ects the way the business is managed and information is 
provided to management. The information considered includes:

  • the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. 
These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, 
maintaining a particular interest rate profi le, matching the duration of the fi nancial assets to the 
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outfl ows or realising cash fl ows through the 
sale of the assets;

  • how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

  • the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the fi nancial assets held within 
that business model) and how those risks are managed;

  • how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the 
fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash fl ows collected; and

  • the frequency, volume and timing of sales of fi nancial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such 
sales and expectations about future sales activity.

  Transfers of fi nancial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not 
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of the assets.

  Non-derivative fi nancial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash fl ows are solely payments 

of principal and interest 

  For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defi ned as the fair value of the fi nancial asset on 

initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defi ned as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk 

associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic 

lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profi t margin.

  In assessing whether the contractual cash fl ows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group 

considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the fi nancial asset 

contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash fl ows such that it 

would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers:

  • contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash fl ows; 

  • terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features;

  • prepayment and extension features; and

  • terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash fl ows from specifi ed assets (e.g. non-recourse features).

  A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the 

prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal 

amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the 

contract. Additionally, for a fi nancial asset acquired at a signifi cant discount or premium to its contractual 

par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents 

the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include 

reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the 

fair value of the prepayment feature is insignifi cant at initial recognition.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.3 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 (ii) Classifi cation and subsequent measurement (cont’d)

  Non-derivative fi nancial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

  Financial assets at amortised cost

  These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The 

amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 

and impairment are recognised in profi t or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profi t 

or loss.

  Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities: Classifi cation, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

  Financial liabilities are classifi ed as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A fi nancial liability is classifi ed 

as at FVTPL if it is classifi ed as held-for-trading or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial 

liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, 

are recognised in profi t or loss. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profi t or loss as 

incurred.

  Other fi nancial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. 

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense 

and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profi t or loss. These fi nancial liabilities 

comprised loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, and dividends payable.

 (iii) Derecognition

  Financial assets

  The Group derecognises a fi nancial asset when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the fi nancial 

asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash fl ows in a transaction in which 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the fi nancial asset are transferred or in which 

the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does 

not retain control of the fi nancial asset.

  The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of fi nancial 

position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In 

these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

  Financial liabilities

  The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 

cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a fi nancial liability when its terms are modifi ed and 

the cash fl ows of the modifi ed liability are substantially different, in which case a new fi nancial liability 

based on the modifi ed terms is recognised at fair value.

  On derecognition of a fi nancial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the 

consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in 

profi t or loss.

 (iv) Offsetting

  Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 

fi nancial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the 

amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.3 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 (v) Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits.

 (vi) Hybrid fi nancial instruments

  Hybrid fi nancial instruments issued by the Group comprise a convertible loan denominated in Malaysian 

Ringgit that can be converted to ordinary shares in a subsidiary at the option of the holder, where the 

number of shares to be issued is variable.

  The liability component of a hybrid fi nancial instrument is recognised initially at the fair value of a similar 

liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The derivative component is recognised initially 

at the difference between the fair value of the hybrid fi nancial instrument as a whole and the fair value of 

the liability component.

  Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a hybrid fi nancial instrument is measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. The derivative component is initially measured at fair 

value; any attributable transaction costs are recognised in profi t or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised immediately to 

profi t or loss.

 (vii) Share capital

  Ordinary shares

  Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

  Preference share capital

  Non-redeemable preference shares are classifi ed as equity, because they bear discretionary dividends, 
do not contain any obligations to deliver cash or other fi nancial assets and do not require settlement in 
a variable number of the Group’s equity instruments. Discretionary dividends thereon are recognised as 
equity distributions on approval by the Group’s shareholders.

  Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)

  When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which 
includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. 
Repurchased shares are classifi ed as treasury shares and are presented in the reserve for own share 
account. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised 
as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or defi cit on the transaction is presented in non-
distributable capital reserve.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.4 Property, plant and equipment, and mine properties 

 (i) Recognition and measurement

  Upon completion of mine construction, the assets are transferred into property, plant and equipment or 
mine properties. Items of property, plant and equipment and mine properties are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation, accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes: 

  • the cost of materials and direct labour;

  • any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended 
use;

  • when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs 
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and

  • capitalised borrowing costs.

  Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of 
the equipment.

  When a mine construction project moves into production stage, the capitalisation of certain mine 
construction costs ceases and costs are either regarded as part of the cost of inventory or expensed, 
except for costs which qualify for capitalisation relating to mining asset additions or improvements, 
underground mine development or mineable reserve development.

  When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment, and mine properties have different useful lives, 
they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment and 
mine properties.

  The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment and mine properties (calculated 
as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is 
recognised in profi t or loss.

 (ii) Subsequent costs

  The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 

carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefi ts embodied within the 

component will fl ow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 

replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 

equipment are recognised in profi t or loss as incurred.

 (iii) Amortisation/Depreciation

  Accumulated mine development costs are amortised on a unit-of-production basis over the economically 

recoverable reserves and resources of the mine concerned, except in the case of assets whose 

useful life is shorter than the life of the mine, in which case the straight-line method is applied. The 

unit of account for run-of-mine costs are recoverable ounces of gold. The unit-of-production rate for the 

amortisation of mine development costs takes into account expenditure incurred to date, together with 

sanctioned future development expenditure.

  Mining rights are amortised to profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the assigned term of the rights, 

from the date the rights is available for use.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.4 Property, plant and equipment, and mine properties (cont’d)

 (iii) Amortisation/Depreciation (cont’d)

  The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

  • mining rights 4 to 17 years

  • producing mines Based on the rate of depletion of reserves and resources

  Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Signifi cant components of individual 

assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that 

asset, that component is depreciated separately.

  For property, plant and equipment, depreciation is recognised as an expense in profi t or loss on a 

straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and 

equipment, unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset. Leased assets are depreciated 

over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group 

will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. No depreciation is provided on construction work in 

progress.

  Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are 

ready for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed 

and ready for use.

  The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

  • buildings 5 to 8 years

  • plant and equipment 3 to 8 years

  • fi xtures and fi ttings 3 years

  • motor vehicles 3 years

  Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting date 

and adjusted if appropriate.

3.5 Mineral exploration, evaluation and development expenditure

 (i) Pre-mining rights costs

  Costs incurred prior to obtaining mining rights are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

 (ii) Exploration and evaluation costs

  Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, exploration and evaluation expenditure is charged 
to profi t or loss as incurred, unless the directors conclude that a future economic benefi t is more likely 
than not to be realised. These costs include materials and fuel used, surveying costs, drilling costs and 
payments made to contractors.

  In evaluating if expenditures meet the criteria to be capitalised, several different sources of information 
are utilised. The information that is used to determine the probability of future benefi ts depends on the 
extent of exploration and evaluation that has been performed.

  Drilling and related costs incurred on sites without an existing mine and on areas outside the boundary 
of a known mineral deposit which contains proven and probable reserves are exploration and 
evaluation expenditures, and are expensed as incurred to the date of establishing that costs incurred 
are economically recoverable. Further exploration and evaluation expenditures, subsequent to the 
establishment of economic recoverability, are capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the 
mineral assets.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.5 Mineral exploration, evaluation and development expenditure (cont’d)

 (ii) Exploration and evaluation costs (cont’d)

  Management evaluates the following criteria in its assessments of economic recoverability and 
probability of future economic benefi t:

  • Geology - whether or not there is suffi cient geologic and economic certainty of being able to 
convert a residual mineral deposit into a proven and probable reserve at a development.

  • Scoping - there is a scoping study or preliminary feasibility study that demonstrates the additional 
resources will generate a positive commercial outcome. Known metallurgy provides a basis 
for concluding there is a signifi cant likelihood of being able to recoup the incremental costs of 
extraction and production.

  • Accessible facilities - mining property can be processed economically at accessible mining and 
processing facilities where applicable.

  • Life of mine plans - an overall life of mine plan and economic model to support the mine and 
the economic extraction of reserves and resources exists. A long-term life of mine plan, and 
supporting geological model identifi es the drilling and related development work required to 
expand or further defi ne the existing ore body.

  • Authorisations - operating permits and feasible environmental programs exist or are obtainable.

  Prior to capitalising exploration drilling and related costs, management will determine that the following 
conditions have been met that will contribute to future cash fl ows:

  • There is a probable future benefi t that will contribute to future cash infl ows;

  • The Group can obtain the benefi t and controls access to it;

  • The transaction or event giving rise to the future benefi t has already occurred; and

  • Costs incurred can be measured reliably.

  If after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 
expenditure is unlikely, the amount is written off in profi t or loss in the period when the new information 
becomes available.

  Once reserves are established and development is sanctioned, exploration and evaluation assets are 
tested for impairment and transferred to “Mines under construction”. No amortisation is charged during 
the exploration and evaluation phase.

 (iii) Mines under construction

  Upon transfer of “Exploration and evaluation costs” into “Mines under construction”, all subsequent 
expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities is capitalised within 
“Mines under construction”. Development expenditure is net of proceeds from all but the incidental sale 
of ore extracted during the development phase. After production starts, all assets included in “Mines 
under construction” are transferred to “Producing mines”.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.6 Leases

 The Group has applied SFRS(I) 16 using the modifi ed retrospective approach and therefore the comparative 
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under SFRS(I) 1-17 and SFRS(I) INT 4. The 
details of accounting policies under SFRS(I) 1-17 and SFRS(I) INT 4 are disclosed separately.

 Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

 At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identifi ed asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identifi ed 
asset, the Group uses the defi nition of a lease in SFRS(I) 16.

 This policy is applied to contracts entered into, on or after 1 January 2019.

 As a lessee

 At commencement or on modifi cation of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. However, 
for the leases of property the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the 
lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

 The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-
of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for 
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an 
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on 
which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

 The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by 
the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset refl ects that the Group will exercise a purchase 
option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which 
is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate 
as the discount rate.

 The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external fi nancing 
sources and makes certain adjustments to refl ect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fi xed payments.

 The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

 The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets 
and short-term leases, including other equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with 
these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.6 Leases (cont’d)

 Leases – Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

 For contracts entered into before 1 January 2019, the Group determined whether the arrangement was or 

contained a lease based on the assessment of whether:

 • fulfi lment of the arrangement was dependent on the use of a specifi c asset or assets; and

 • the arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset. An arrangement conveyed the right to use the 

asset if one of the following was met:

  – the purchaser had the ability or right to operate the asset while obtaining or controlling more than 

an insignifi cant amount of the output;

  – the purchaser had the ability or right to control physical access to the asset while obtaining or 

controlling more than an insignifi cant amount of the output; or

  – facts and circumstances indicated that it was remote that other parties would take more than an 

insignifi cant amount of the output, and the price per unit was neither fi xed per unit of output nor 

equal to the current market price per unit of output.

 As a lessee

 In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group classifi ed leases that transferred substantially all of the risks 

and rewards of ownership as fi nance leases. When this was the case, the leased assets were measured initially 

at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

Minimum lease payments were the payments over the lease term that the lessee was required to make, 

excluding any contingent rent. Subsequent to initial recognition, the assets were accounted for in accordance 

with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

 Assets held under other leases were classifi ed as operating leases and were not recognised in the Group’s 

statement of fi nancial position. Payments made under operating leases were recognised in profi t or loss on a 

straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received were recognised as an integral part of 

the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

3.7 Inventories 

 Work in progress consists of gold contained in the ore on leaching yards/ponds and in circuit material within 

processing operation.

 Stockpiles represent ore that has been extracted and is available for further processing. If there is signifi cant 

uncertainty as to when the stockpiled ore will be processed, it is expensed as incurred. When the future 

processing of this ore can be predicted with confi dence, it is valued at lower of cost and net realisable value. If 

the ore will not be processed within 12 months after the reporting date, it is included within non-current assets. 

Quantities are assessed primarily through surveys and assays.

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on 

the weighted average principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or 

conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and conditions.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 

completion and estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

 Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Any provision for obsolescence 

is determined by reference to specifi c items of stocks. A regular review is undertaken to determine the extent of 

any provision for obsolescence.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.8 Impairment 

 (i) Non-derivative fi nancial assets

  The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on fi nancial assets measured 

at amortised costs.

  Loss allowances of the Group are measured on either of the following bases:

  • 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 

months after the reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less 

than 12 months); or 

  • Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of 

a fi nancial instrument.

  Simplifi ed approach

  The Group applies the simplifi ed approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables. The simplifi ed 

approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

  General approach

  The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other fi nancial instruments. Under 

the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs at initial 

recognition.

  At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a fi nancial instrument has 

increased signifi cantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased signifi cantly since initial 

recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

  When determining whether the credit risk of a fi nancial asset has increased signifi cantly since initial 

recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information 

that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative 

information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment 

and includes forward-looking information.

  If credit risk has not increased signifi cantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the fi nancial 

instruments improves such that there is no longer a signifi cant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

  The Group considers a fi nancial asset to be in default when:

  • the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the 

Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

  • the fi nancial asset is more than 90 days past due.

  The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which 

the Group is exposed to credit risk.

  Measurement of ECLs

  ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the present 

value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash fl ows due to the entity in accordance 

with the contract and the cash fl ows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the 

effective interest rate of the fi nancial asset.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.8 Impairment (cont’d)

 (i) Non-derivative fi nancial assets (cont’d)

  Credit-impaired fi nancial assets

  At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost are 
credit-impaired. A fi nancial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash fl ows of the fi nancial asset have occurred.

  Evidence that a fi nancial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

  • signifi cant fi nancial diffi culty of the borrower or issuer;

  • a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

  • the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider 
otherwise;

  • it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other fi nancial reorganisation; or

  • the disappearance of an active market for a security because of fi nancial diffi culties.

  Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of fi nancial position

  Loss allowances for fi nancial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying 
amount of these assets. 

  Write-off

  The gross carrying amount of a fi nancial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the 
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate suffi cient cash fl ows to repay the 
amounts subject to the write-off. However, fi nancial assets that are written off could still be subject to 
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

 (ii) Non-fi nancial assets

  The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-fi nancial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount.

  The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specifi c to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be 
tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash infl ows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash infl ows of other assets or CGUs. 

  The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash infl ows and are utilised by more than 
one CGU. Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested 
for impairment as part of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated. Impairment 
losses are recognised in profi t or loss.

  Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only 
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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3.9 Employee benefi ts 

 (i) Defi ned contribution plans

  A defi ned contribution plan is a post-employment benefi t plan under which an entity pays fi xed 

contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 

amounts. Obligations for contributions to defi ned contribution pension plans are recognised as an 

employee benefi t expense in profi t or loss in the periods during which related services are rendered by 

employees.

 (ii) Short-term employee benefi ts

  Short-term employee benefi t obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as 

the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-

term cash bonus or profi t-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 

this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated 

reliably.

 (iii) Share-based payment transactions

  The grant date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is 

recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the 

employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is 

adjusted to refl ect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance 

conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based 

on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the 

vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value 

of the share-based payment is measured to refl ect such conditions and there is no true-up differences 

between expected and actual outcomes.

3.10 Rehabilitation obligations

 The Group records the costs of legal obligations required to restore operating locations. The nature of these 

restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines and tailings dams, 

dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste sites, and restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation 

of affected areas.

 The obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the 

production location. When the liability is initially recognised, the accrued costs are capitalised by increasing the 

carrying amount of the related mining assets to the extent that it was incurred by the development/construction 

of the mine.

 Additional disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognised as additions or charges to the 

corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability when they occur.

3.11 Revenue

 Goods and services sold 

 Revenue from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of business is recognised when the Group 

satisfi es a performance obligation (“PO”) by transferring control of a promised good or service to the customer. 

The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of the transaction price allocated to the satisfi ed PO.

 The transaction price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling 

prices of the promised goods or services. The individual standalone selling price of a good or service that has 

not previously been sold on a stand-alone basis, or has a highly variable selling price, is determined based on 

the residual portion of the transaction price after allocating the transaction price to goods and/or services with 

observable stand-alone selling prices. A discount or variable consideration is allocated to one or more, but not 

all, of the POs if it relates specifi cally to those POs.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.11 Revenue (cont’d)

 Goods and services sold (cont’d) 

 The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Group expects to be entitled in 

exchange for transferring the promised goods or services. The transaction price may be fi xed or variable and 

is adjusted for time value of money if the contract includes a signifi cant fi nancing component. Consideration 

payable to a customer is deducted from the transaction price if the Group does not receive a separate 

identifi able benefi t from the customer. When consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in the 

transaction price to the extent that it is highly probable that a signifi cant reversal of the cumulative revenue will 

not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved.

 Revenue may be recognised at a point in time or over time following the timing of satisfaction of the PO.

3.12 Finance income and fi nance costs

 The Group’s fi nance income and fi nance costs include: 

 • interest income; and

 • interest expense 

 Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

 The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through 

the expected life of the fi nancial instrument to:

 • the gross carrying amount of the fi nancial asset; or

 • the amortised cost of the fi nancial liability.

 In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of 

the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for fi nancial 

assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by 

applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the fi nancial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-

impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

 Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 

asset are recognised in profi t or loss using the effective interest method.

3.13 Tax

 Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profi t or loss 

except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other 

comprehensive income.

 The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain tax 

treatments, do not meet the defi nition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under SFRS(I) 1-37 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 

of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivables is the best estimate of the tax amount 

expected to be paid or received that refl ects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.

 Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.13 Tax (cont’d)

 Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for fi nancial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 

recognised for:

 • temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss; and

 • temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to control 

the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future.

 The measurement of deferred taxes refl ects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which 

the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 

reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 

and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 

tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 

liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 

differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi ts will be available against which they can be 

used. Future taxable profi ts are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If 

the amount of taxable temporary differences is insuffi cient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future 

taxable profi ts, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business 

plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefi t will be realised; such reductions 

are reversed when the probability of future taxable profi ts improves.

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it 

has become probable that future taxable profi ts will be available against which they can be used.

 In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain 

tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax 

liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations 

of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series 

of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes the Group to change 

its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax 

expense in the period that such a determination is made.

3.14 Earnings per share

 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per 

share is calculated by dividing the profi t or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted 

earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profi t or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 

weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all 

dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible loan and share options granted to employees.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.15 Segment reporting

 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 

Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s 

executive directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its 

performance, and for which discrete fi nancial information is available.

 Segment results that are reported to the Group’s executive directors include items directly attributable to a 

segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly 

corporate assets, head offi ce expenses and tax assets and liabilities.

 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment, 

mine properties, and exploration and evaluation assets.

3.16 New standards and interpretations not adopted

 A number of new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods 

beginning after 1 January 2019 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted 

the new or amended standards and interpretations in preparing these fi nancial statements.

 The following new SFRS(I)s, interpretations and amendments to SFRS(I)s are not expected to have a signifi cant 

impact on the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements.

 • Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in SFRS(I) Standards 

 • Defi nition of a Business (Amendments to SFRS(I) 3)

 • Defi nition of Material (Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 and SFRS(I) 1-8)

 • SFRS(I) 17 Insurance Contracts
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4 Exploration and evaluation assets

Group

Note 2019 2018

US$ US$

At 1 January 9,843,698 8,929,713

Expenditure incurred during the year 1,270,203 985,200

Expenditure transferred to mine properties 5 (1,955,977) –

Effect of movement in exchange rate 42,638 (71,215)

At 31 December 9,200,562 9,843,698

 During the fi nancial year, the Group reclassifi ed the exploration and evaluation assets to mine properties when 

the technical feasibility commercial viability of extracting the resource are demonstrable and sanctioned by 

management.

 Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

 The Group has substantial investments in exploration and evaluation assets for its mining operations in 

Malaysia whereby the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the successful 

development and commercial exploitation.

 Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if suffi cient data exists to determine the 

technical feasibility and commercial viability or facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount 

exceeds the recoverable amount.

 Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when any of the following facts and circumstances 

exist: 

 • The term of exploration license in the specifi c area of interest has expired during the reporting period or 

will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

 • Substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specifi c 

area are not budgeted nor planned;

 • Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specifi c area have not led to the discovery 

of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the decision was made to discontinue such 

activities in the specifi ed area; or

 • Suffi cient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specifi c area is likely to proceed, the 

carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful 

development or by sale.

 Where a potential impairment is indicated, an assessment is performed for each CGU which is no larger than 

the area of interest. The Group performs impairment testing in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy 

for impairment (note 3.8(ii)).
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5 Mine properties

Note

Mining 

rights

Producing 

mines Total

US$ US$ US$

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2018 6,675,600 14,447,946 21,123,546

Additions 387,838 1,555,983 1,943,821

At 31 December 2018 7,063,438 16,003,929 23,067,367

Additions 113,952 1,899,336 2,013,288

Expenditure transferred from exploration and 

 evaluation assets 4 – 1,955,977 1,955,977

At 31 December 2019 7,177,390 19,859,242 27,036,632

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2018 1,068,485 6,005,738 7,074,223

Amortisation charge for the year 366,564 1,554,877 1,921,441

At 31 December 2018 1,435,049 7,560,615 8,995,664

Amortisation charge for the year 366,565 1,013,541 1,380,106

At 31 December 2019 1,801,614 8,574,156 10,375,770

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2018 5,607,115 8,442,208 14,049,323

At 31 December 2018 5,628,389 8,443,314 14,071,703

At 31 December 2019 5,375,776 11,285,086 16,660,862

 The carrying amount of the mining rights represents the gold exploration and mining rights for the Sokor gold 
fi eld project located in the District of Tanah Merah, Kelantan, Malaysia up to 31 December 2034.

 Impairment of mine properties

 The Group has substantial investments in mine properties for its mining operations in Malaysia. Management 
has identifi ed the Group’s mine properties as a single CGU.

 Impairment loss is recognised when events and circumstances indicate that the Group’s mine properties may 
be impaired and the carrying amounts of mine properties exceed their recoverable amounts.

 Amortisation

 The carrying amount of the mining rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining useful life 
of the mining rights. For mine development costs recorded under “Producing mines”, the carrying amount is 
amortised based on units-of-production basis over the economically recoverable reserves and resources of the 
mine concerned.

 Management reviews and revises the estimates of the recoverable reserves and resources of the mine and, 
remaining useful life and residual values of mine properties at the end of each fi nancial year. Any changes in 
estimates of the recoverable reserve of the mine and, the useful life and residual values of the mine properties 
would impact the amortisation charges and consequently affect the Group’s results.

 Change in estimates

 In 2019, the Group began production from resources, which resulted in changes to the remaining useful life 
of producing mines. Producing mines, which were amortised over the economically recoverable reserves, are 
now amortised over the economically recoverable reserves and resources of the mine concerned, based on 
units-of-production basis. As a result, the effect of these changes on actual amortisation expense, included in 
‘amortisation and depreciation’ was a decrease of US$712,975. The effect in subsequent fi nancial years is not 
disclosed because estimating it is impracticable.
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6 Property, plant and equipment 

Buildings

Plant and

equipment

Fixtures 

and

fi ttings

Motor

vehicles

Construction 

work in 

progress Total

Group US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Cost

At 1 January 2018 8,931,757 11,389,883 255,409 1,679,472 254,983 22,511,504

Additions 228,998 1,006,807 10,025 424,288 4,158,045 5,828,163

Disposals/Written off (253,048) (101,640) – (181,251) – (535,939)

Reclassifi cation 2,660,067 550,224 – – (3,210,291) –

Effect of movement in exchange rate – 615 (1,343) (2,821) (96) (3,645)

At 31 December 2018 11,567,774 12,845,889 264,091 1,919,688 1,202,641 27,800,083

At 1 January 2019 11,567,774 12,845,889 264,091 1,919,688 1,202,641 27,800,083

Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial 

application of SFRS(I) 16 239,728 1,684 – – – 241,412

Additions 25,488 634,416 – 129,917 6,669,629 7,459,450

Disposals/Written off – (1,684) – (18,487) – (20,171)

Reclassifi cation 777,850 218,059 – 56,621 (1,052,530) –

Effect of movement in exchange rate 216 1,127 625 1,311 – 3,279

At 31 December 2019 12,611,056 13,699,491 264,716 2,089,050 6,819,740 35,484,053

Accumulated depreciation 

At 1 January 2018 4,172,516 5,932,846 248,918 1,652,362 – 12,006,642

Depreciation charge for the year 1,387,043 1,690,816 10,172 96,633 – 3,184,664

Disposals/Written off (135,121) (101,640) – (181,251) – (418,012)

Effect of movement in exchange rate (36) 906 (1,383) (2,859) – (3,372)

At 31 December 2018 5,424,402 7,522,928 257,707 1,564,885 – 14,769,922

Depreciation charge for the year 1,645,448 1,616,197 3,407 180,181 – 3,445,233

Disposals/Written off – (1,684) – (18,487) – (20,171)

Effect of movement in exchange rate 78 1,000 623 1,310 – 3,011

At 31 December 2019 7,069,928 9,138,441 261,737 1,727,889 – 18,197,995

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2018 4,759,241 5,457,037 6,491 27,110 254,983 10,504,862

At 31 December 2018 6,143,372 5,322,961 6,384 354,803 1,202,641 13,030,161

At 31 December 2019 5,541,128 4,561,050 2,979 361,161 6,819,740 17,286,058
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6 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 The depreciation for the year is analysed as follows:

Group

Note 2019 2018

US$ US$

Depreciation for the year 3,445,233 3,184,664

Depreciation included in construction work in progress, and 

exploration and evaluation assets (132,153) (68,859)

Depreciation charged to profi t or loss 23 3,313,080 3,115,805

Buildings

Plant and 

equipment

Fixtures

and fi ttings

Motor

vehicles Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2018 – 25,788 172,077 155,316 353,181

Additions – 5,951 1,590 173,712 181,253

Disposals/Written off – – – (155,316) (155,316)

At 31 December 2018 – 31,739 173,667 173,712 379,118

At 1 January 2019 – 31,739 173,667 173,712 379,118

Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial 

application of SFRS(I) 16 202,040 1,684 – – 203,724

Additions – 15,562 – – 15,562

Disposals/Written off – (1,684) – – (1,684)

At 31 December 2019 202,040 47,301 173,667 173,712 596,720

Accumulated depreciation 

At 1 January 2018 – 18,246 169,780 155,316 343,342

Depreciation charge for the year – 4,705 2,386 48,253 55,344

Disposals/Written off – – – (155,316) (155,316)

At 31 December 2018 – 22,951 172,166 48,253 243,370

Depreciation charge for the year 101,020 7,613 529 57,904 167,066

Disposals/Written off – (1,684) – – (1,684)

At 31 December 2019 101,020 28,880 172,695 106,157 408,752

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2018 – 7,542 2,297 – 9,839

At 31 December 2018 – 8,788 1,501 125,459 135,748

At 31 December 2019 101,020 18,421 972 67,555 187,968

 As at 31 December 2019, property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company includes right-of-use 

assets of US$132,392 and US$110,811 (2018: US$Nil and US$Nil) respectively related to leased offi ces and 

offi ce equipment.

 Leased motor vehicles (classifi ed as fi nance lease under SFRS(I) 1-17)

 The Group leases motor vehicles under a number of fi nance leases which secure lease obligations. At 31 

December 2019, the carrying amount of leased motor vehicles was US$223,147 (2018: US$196,707).
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7 Interests in subsidiaries

Company

2019 2018

US$ US$

Equity investments at cost 12,238,979 12,238,967

Allowance for impairment (788,716) (788,716)

11,450,263 11,450,251

 The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of interests in subsidiaries during the year was as 

follows:

Company

2019 2018

US$ US$

At 1 January 788,716 188,716

Impairment loss recognised – 600,000

At 31 December 788,716 788,716

 The following are the Company’s subsidiaries:

Company name Principal activities

Principal place 

of business/

Country of 

incorporation

Effective equity

held by the Group

2019 2018

% %

Held by the Company

1 CNMC Goldmine Limited

(“CNMC HK”)

Investment holding 

company

Hong Kong 

SAR

100 100

2 CMNM Mining Group Sdn. Bhd. 

(“CMNM Mining”)

Exploration and mining 

of gold deposits

Malaysia 81 81

2 CNMC Development (M) Sdn. Bhd. 

(“CNMC Development”) 

Investment holding 

company

Currently dormant

Malaysia 100 100

2 CNMC Management Services Sdn. 

Bhd. (formerly known as MCS Tin 

Holdings Sdn. Bhd.) (“CNMC MS”)

Non-mining related 

service provider

Malaysia 100 100

2 CNMC Mineral Exploration Sdn. Bhd. 

(“CNMC ME”)

Mineral exploration and 

drilling service provider

Malaysia 100 100

2 CNMC Pulai Mining Sdn. Bhd. 

(“CNMC Pulai”)

Exploration and mining 

of gold deposits

Malaysia 51 51

2 Kelgold Mining Sdn. Bhd. 

(“Kelgold”)

Exploration and mining 

of gold deposits

Malaysia 100 100

2 CNMC Mining Sdn. Bhd. 

(“CNMC Mining”)

Underground mining 

service provider

Malaysia 51 –
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7 Interests in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Company name Principal activities

Principal place 

of business/

Country of 

incorporation

Effective equity

held by the Group

2019 2018

% %

Held by CNMC Pulai

2 Sumberjaya Land & Mining Sdn. Bhd. 

(“SLM”)

Exploration and mining 

of iron ore deposits

Malaysia 36 36

 1 Audited by Allen Kong & Co. (Certifi ed Public Accountants, Hong Kong SAR).

 2 Audited by another member fi rm of KPMG International.

 Acquisition of subsidiary

 On 27 June 2019, the Group had subscribed for 51 ordinary shares for a total cash consideration of MYR51 in 

a newly incorporated Malaysian company, CNMC Mining Sdn. Bhd. Pursuant to the investment, CNMC Mining 

became a 51%-owned subsidiary of the Company.

 No disclosure is made on the recognised amounts of assets and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date as 

they are not material to the Group.

8 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 

 Recognised deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are attributable to the following:

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Property, plant and equipment and mine properties (80,126) (490,544)

Rehabilitation obligations 330,094 288,455

249,968 (202,089)

 Movement in temporary differences during the year

At

1 January

2018

Recognised in 

profi t 

or loss 

(note 26)

At 

31 December 

2018

Recognised in 

profi t 

or loss 

(note 26)

At 

31 December 

2019

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Group

Property, plant and equipment and 

mine properties (505,564) 15,020 (490,544) 410,418 (80,126)

Rehabilitation obligations – 288,455 288,455 41,639 330,094

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (505,564) 303,475 (202,089) 452,057 249,968
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8 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (cont’d)

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items, because it is not probable that 

future taxable profi t will be available against which the Group can use the benefi ts therefrom.

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Unutilised tax losses 4,740,805 4,151,478

Unabsorbed capital allowances 264,515 221,754

5,005,320 4,373,232

 The unutilised tax losses is subject to Malaysian Income Tax Act of which the tax losses can be carried forward 

up to 7 years. This is effective from the year of assessment 2018. Unabsorbed capital allowances do not expire 

under current tax legislation. The tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances are subject to agreement by 

the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the respective countries in which the entities of the 

Group operate.

9 Mine rehabilitation fund

 This relates to monies contributed to a Mine Rehabilitation Fund (administered by the relevant government 

authority) for approved rehabilitation activities pursuant to the Kelantan Mineral Enactment 2001, Malaysia. 

Upon completion of such rehabilitation activities, any unused sum in the Fund will be refundable to the Group.

10 Inventories

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Work in progress/Stockpile 1,009,455 917,068

Consumables 860,673 1,091,179

1,870,128 2,008,247

 In 2019, work in progress, stockpile and consumables recognised as an expense in profi t or loss amounted to 

US$21,651,335 (2018: US$20,998,056).

11 Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

US$ US$ US$ US$

Trade receivables 236,631 1,329,256 – –

Amounts due from subsidiaries 

- trade – – 6,990,486 4,052,128

- non-trade – – 5,777,279 7,329,984

Other receivables 1,138,356 1,511,160 6,283 13,065

Deposits 114,250 109,848 18,471 18,247

1,489,237 2,950,264 12,792,519 11,413,424

Prepayments 18,743 22,117 18,743 15,367

1,507,980 2,972,381 12,811,262 11,428,791
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11 Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

 The outstanding trade receivables are not past due as at 31 December 2019. Based on historical trend, the 

Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of outstanding trade receivables not past 

due.

 The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable on demand. The weighted-average 

interest rate is 3.89% (2018: 8.0%) per annum.

 The Group and the Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in note 34.

12 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

US$ US$ US$ US$

Cash at banks and in hand 3,669,813 2,025,622 175,166 167,479

Fixed deposits 12,346,648 15,884,562 – –

Cash and cash equivalents in the 

statements of fi nancial position/statements 

of cash fl ows 16,016,461 17,910,184 175,166 167,479

 Fixed deposits have stated interest rates of 3.3% to 3.8% (2018: 3.9% to 4.4%) per annum.

13 Share capital

Group and Company

2019 2018

Number of 

shares

Number of 

shares

Issued and fully-paid ordinary shares with no par value:

At 1 January and 31 December 407,693,000 407,693,000

 Ordinary shares

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled 

to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s 

residual assets.

 Performance shares

 The Company has a performance share plan known as the CNMC Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”) 

which was approved at an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of the Company on 14 October 

2011. The PSP was subsequently amended and approved by insertion of a new Rule 5.8 at the Company’s 

extraordinary general meeting held on 27 April 2012.

 The PSP is administered by an awards committee comprising Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan, Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck and 

Ms Gan Siew Lian. The PSP grants a participant the right to receive fully paid shares free of charge, upon the 

participant achieving prescribed performance targets. Employees of the Group, employees of an associated 

company, directors and employees of the Company’s parent company and its subsidiaries, and controlling 

shareholders and their associates are eligible to participate in the PSP.
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13 Share capital (cont’d)

 Performance shares (cont’d)

 The total number of new shares which may be issued pursuant to awards granted under the PSP, when added 

to (i) the number of new shares issued and issuable in respect of all awards granted thereunder; and (ii) any 

other share incentive schemes adopted by the Company for the time being in force, shall not exceed 15% 

of the issued share capital of the Company on the day preceding the relevant date of award. The aggregate 

number of shares available under the PSP shall not exceed 15% of the total issued share capital of the 

Company from time to time.

 In 2018, 2,782,500 shares were granted under the PSP to employees of the Group. No shares were granted 

under the PSP to controlling shareholders or their associates. Five participants received shares which in 

aggregate represented 5% or more of the total number of shares available under the PSP. 

 Pursuant to a directors’ resolution in writing dated 4 July 2018, the PSP was terminated on that date. The 

Company currently has no performance share plan.

 Capital management

 The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 

confi dence and to sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital, reserves and 

non-controlling interests of the Group.

 The Board closely monitors the cash fl ow forecasts and working capital requirements of the Group to ensure 

that there are suffi cient fi nancial resources available to meet the needs of the business. There were no changes 

in the Group’s approach to capital management during the fi nancial years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019.

 The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

 Non-redeemable preference shares

 Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement dated 20 January 2017, a subsidiary of the Company, CMNM 

Mining Group Sdn. Bhd. (“CMNM Mining”), issued 15,000 preference shares to the Kelantan State Economic 

Development Corporation (“KSEDC”), a non-controlling shareholder, for an aggregate subscription price of 

approximately US$2,800 as part of a list of conditions for its mining lease extension up to 31 December 2034 

(the “Preference Shares Issuance”). The preference shares are classifi ed as equity as they are non-redeemable 

and dividend payments are discretionary.

14 Treasury shares

Group and Company

2019 2018

No. of shares US$ No. of shares US$

At 1 January – – (1,037,900) (200,845)

Purchase of treasury shares – – (1,744,600) (360,535)

Treasury shares reissued under the 

Performance Share Plan  – – 2,782,500 561,380

At 31 December – – – –

 Treasury shares related to ordinary shares of the Company that is held by the Company.

 In 2018, 2,782,500 treasury shares with a carrying value of US$561,380 were reissued under the PSP (note 13). 

A defi cit of US$13,860 which resulted from the re-issuance was recognised in capital reserve (note 15).
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15 Reserves

Group Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

US$ US$ US$ US$

Capital reserve 3,111,892 3,111,892 (13,680) (13,860)

Translation reserve 29,608 36,395 – –

3,141,500 3,148,287 (13,680) (13,860)

 Capital reserve 

 Pursuant to the share swap agreement dated 14 October 2011, the Company had acquired the entire issued 

share capital of CNMC Goldmine Limited (“CNMC HK”) comprising 14,004,524 ordinary shares in the capital of 

CNMC HK, for an aggregate consideration of approximately US$7,856,177 (the “Restructuring Exercise”).

 The purchase consideration of US$7,856,177 was arrived at after taking into consideration the net asset value 

of CNMC HK as at 14 October 2011. This was fully satisfi ed by the allotment of 374,999,999 new shares in the 

capital of the Company on 14 October 2011.

 Upon completion of the Restructuring Exercise, the Company became the immediate and ultimate holding 

company of CNMC HK and its subsidiaries.

 The capital reserve as presented in the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements represents the difference 

between the cost of acquisition for the Restructuring Exercise and the amount of paid up capital of CNMC HK 

at the date of acquisition, and the difference between the fair value of the preference shares for the Preference 

Shares Issuance as described in note 13 and the aggregate subscription price of preference shares at the 

date of issuance, and the defi cit which resulted from the re-issuance of treasury shares under the Performance 

Share Plan as described in note 14.

 The capital reserve as presented in the Company’s fi nancial statements represents the defi cit which resulted 

from the re-issuance of treasury shares under the Performance Share Plan as described in note 14.

 Translation reserve 

 The translation reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the fi nancial 

statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from the functional currency of the 

Company.

16 Non-controlling interests

 The following subsidiary has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”).

Company name

Principal place 

of business/

Country of 

incorporation

Operating 

segment

Ownership interests 

held by NCI

2019 2018

% %

CMNM Mining Group Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Gold mining 19 19
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16 Non-controlling interests (cont’d)

 The following summarises the fi nancial information of CMNM Mining, based on its fi nancial statements prepared 

in accordance with SFRS(I).

CMNM Mining

Other 

individually 

immaterial 

subsidiaries

Intra-group 

elimination Total

US$ US$ US$ US$

Group

31 December 2019

Revenue 39,098,825

Profi t and total comprehensive income 

for the year 6,277,503

Attributable to NCI:

- Profi t for the year 1,192,726 (160,606) – 1,032,120

- Other comprehensive income 

for the year – 1,455 – 1,455

- Total comprehensive income 

for the year 1,192,726 (159,151) – 1,033,575

Non-current assets 36,767,582

Current assets 17,943,663

Non-current liabilities (2,211,845)

Current liabilities (15,093,357)

Net assets 37,406,043

Net assets attributable to NCI 7,273,278 106,845 – 7,380,123

Cash fl ows generated from operating 

activities 10,942,293

Cash fl ows used in investing activities (8,695,175)

Cash fl ows used in fi nancing activities 

(dividends to NCI: US$1,308,858) (5,581,272)

Net decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents (3,334,154)
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16 Non-controlling interests (cont’d)

CMNM Mining

Other 

individually 

immaterial 

subsidiaries

Intra-group 

elimination Total

US$ US$ US$ US$

Group

31 December 2018

Revenue 39,618,218

Profi t and total comprehensive income 

for the year 6,386,639

Attributable to NCI:

- Profi t for the year 1,213,461 119,133 (2,688) 1,329,906

- Other comprehensive income 

 for the year – 24,546 – 24,546

- Total comprehensive income 

for the year 1,213,461 143,679 (2,688) 1,354,452

Non-current assets 30,638,614

Current assets 24,213,418

Non-current liabilities (2,010,884)

Current liabilities (18,019,587)

Net assets 34,821,561

Net assets attributable to NCI 6,782,226 324,661 – 7,106,887

Cash fl ows generated from operating 

activities 6,415,874

Cash fl ows used in investing activities (5,848,645)

Cash fl ows used in fi nancing activities 

(dividends to NCI: US$365,873) (1,988,426)

Net decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents (1,421,197)

17 Loans and borrowings

Group Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

US$ US$ US$ US$

Non-current

Lease liabilities 174,139 – 8,390 –

Finance lease liabilities – 127,319 – –

Convertible loan 602,046 595,618 – –

776,185 722,937 8,390 –

Current

Lease liabilities 186,215 – 105,406 –

Finance lease liabilities – 61,135 – –

186,215 61,135 105,406 –

Total loans and borrowings 962,400 784,072 113,796 –



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

125ANNUAL REPORT 2019

17 Loans and borrowings (cont’d)

 Terms and debt repayment schedule

 Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings were as follows:

Currency

Nominal interest 

rate Year of maturity

Face

value

Carrying

amount

% US$ US$

Group

At 31 December 2019

Lease liabilities Ringgit Malaysia 

(“RM”)

2.3% to 3.1% 2021 to 2024 267,257 246,558

Lease liabilities Singapore 

Dollars (“SGD”)

3.0% to 11.0% 2020 to 2024 118,386 113,796

Convertible loan RM 5.00% 2022 602,046 602,046

987,689 962,400

At 31 December 2018

Finance lease liabilities RM 2.4% to 3.0% 2019 to 2023 204,649 188,454

Convertible loan RM 5.00% 2022 595,618 595,618

800,267 784,072

Company

At 31 December 2019

Lease liabilities SGD 3.0% to 11.0% 2020 to 2024 118,386 113,796

 Finance lease liabilities 

 Finance lease liabilities are repayable as follows:

Future 

minimum lease

payments Interest Principal

US$ US$ US$

At 31 December 2018

Within 1 year 68,213 7,078 61,135

After 1 year but within 5 years 136,436 9,117 127,319

204,649 16,195 188,454

 Convertible loan 

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Carrying amount of liability at 1 January 595,618 609,464

Effect of movement in exchange rate 6,428 (13,846)

Carrying amount of liability at 31 December 602,046 595,618

 On 24 February 2017, the Group, through its subsidiary CNMC Pulai Mining Sdn. Bhd. (“CNMC Pulai”), 

issued a convertible loan which is unsecured and bears interest of 5.0% per annum with a principal amount of 

RM3,100,000 (US$609,464).
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17 Loans and borrowings (cont’d)

 Convertible loan (cont’d)

 The main terms of the convertible loan are as follows:

 (a) The aggregate principal amount is RM10,000,000 of which CNMC Pulai can further draw down 

RM6,900,000 of the convertible loan to be issued by the Company before 23 February 2022 (the 

“Maturity Date”).

 (b) The aggregate principal amount issued is convertible into ordinary shares of CNMC Pulai at the option 

of the lenders at a conversion price of 50% of independent valuation of the ordinary shares performed 

by an approved accounting fi rm, subject to a minimum valuation of RM130,000,000 and a maximum 

valuation of RM200,000,000 on the Maturity Date.

 Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash fl ows arising from fi nancing activities

Liabilities Equity

Finance 

lease 

liabilities 

Convertible 

loan 

Derivative 

fi nancial 

instrument 

Dividends 

payable

Treasury 

shares

Retained 

earnings

Non-

controlling 

interests Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Balance at 1 January 2018 63,740 609,464 154,686 437,538 (200,845) 19,504,023 6,754,793 27,323,399

Changes from fi nancing 

cash fl ows

Purchase of treasury shares – – – – (360,535) – – (360,535)

Dividends paid to equity 

holders of the Company – – – – – (617,974) – (617,974)

Dividends paid to non-

controlling interests – – – (374,680) – – – (374,680)

Payment of fi nance lease 

liabilities (57,552) – – – – – – (57,552)

Total changes from 

fi nancing cash fl ows (57,552) – – (374,680) (360,535) (617,974) – (1,410,741)

The effect of changes in 

foreign exchange rates (2,815) (13,846) 396 8,807 – – 24,546 17,088

Change in fair value – – (127,860) – – – – (127,860)

Other changes

Liability-related

Dividend payable – – – 981,292 – – – 981,292

New fi nance leases 185,081 – – – – – – 185,081

Total liability-related other 

changes 185,081 – – 981,292 – – – 1,166,373

Total equity-related other 

changes – – – – 561,380 1,556,344 327,548 2,445,272

Balance at 31 December 

2018 188,454 595,618 27,222 1,052,957 – 20,442,393 7,106,887 29,413,531
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17 Loans and borrowings (cont’d)

 Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash fl ows arising from fi nancing activities (cont’d)

Liabilities Equity

Lease 

liabilities 

Convertible 

loan 

Derivative 

fi nancial 

instrument 

Dividends 

payable

Retained 

earnings

Non-

controlling 

interests Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Balance at 1 January 2019* 429,866 595,618 27,222 1,052,957 20,442,393 7,106,887 29,654,943

Changes from fi nancing cash fl ows

Dividends paid to equity holders of 

the Company – – – – (1,197,476) – (1,197,476)

Dividends paid to preference shares 

holder and non-controlling interests – – – (1,401,755) – – (1,401,755)

Payment of lease liabilities (187,054) – – – – – (187,054)

Total changes from fi nancing 

cash fl ows (187,054) – – (1,401,755) (1,197,476) – (2,786,285)

The effect of changes in foreign 

exchange rates 4,203 6,428 294 1,434 – 1,455 13,814

Other changes

Liability-related

Dividend payable – – – 881,846 – – 881,846

New leases 113,339 – – – – – 113,339

Total liability-related other changes 113,339 – – 881,846 – – 995,185

Total equity-related other changes – – – – 4,350,403 271,781 4,622,184

Balance at 31 December 2019 360,354 602,046 27,516 534,482 23,595,320 7,380,123 32,499,841

 * The balance at 1 January 2019 includes the effect of initially applying SFRS(I) 16 (see note 2.5)

18 Derivative fi nancial instrument

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

At 1 January 27,222 154,686

Change in fair value – (127,860)

Effect of movement in exchange rate 294 396

At 31 December 27,516 27,222

 In 2018, the fair value of the derivative fi nancial instrument decreased by US$127,860 due to a reduction in the 

equity value of the subsidiary which issued the convertible loan.

 The Group’s derivative fi nancial instrument did not qualify for hedge accounting. 
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19 Rehabilitation obligations

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Rehabilitation obligations 2,047,695 1,681,476

 The rehabilitation obligations represent the present value of rehabilitation costs relating to the mine site and was 

created based on the Group’s internal estimates. Assumptions, based on the current economic environment, 

have been made which management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. 

These estimates are reviewed regularly to take into account any material changes to the assumptions. However, 

actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary decommissioning 

works required which will refl ect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation 

is likely to depend on when the mine ceases to produce at economically viable rates. This, in turn, will depend 

upon future gold prices, which are inherently uncertain.

20 Trade and other payables

Group Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

US$ US$ US$ US$

Trade payables 742,298 973,191 9,153 40,597

Other payables 1,132 41,759 – –

Amount due to a subsidiary (non-trade) – – 5,703,900 5,699,994

Amounts due to contractors 1,396,315 1,103,506 – –

Accrued operating expenses 3,337,561 3,909,028 204,428 594,830

Remuneration and fees payable to key 

management 1,273,222 1,161,549 876,306 811,912

6,750,528 7,189,033 6,793,787 7,147,333

 The non-trade amount due to a subsidiary are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

 The Group and the Company’s exposure to liquidity and market risks related to trade and other payables are 

disclosed in note 34.

21 Revenue

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Revenue from contracts with customers 39,098,825 39,547,621
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21 Revenue (cont’d)

 The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance 

obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms and the related revenue 

recognition policies:

Nature of goods or services Revenue is principally relates to sales of gold dorè bars to a customer. 

When revenue is recognised Revenue is recognised when goods are passed to the customer and all 

criteria for acceptance have been satisfi ed.

Signifi cant payment terms Payments of the determined gold bars value will be made by the 

customer progressively. The fi nal payment will be made after the value is 

determined by the internationally independent assay company approved 

by both parties, within fi ve business days from the issuance of an assay 

report.

22 Other income

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Gain on disposal on property, plant and equipment 6,647 135,026

Net foreign exchange gain 151,092 –

Reversal of tax penalty estimate  – 428,501

Change in fair value of derivative fi nancial instrument – 127,860

Others 99,170 132,915

256,909 824,302

23 Amortisation and depreciation

Group

Note 2019 2018

US$ US$

Amortisation of mine properties 5 1,380,106 1,921,441

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6 3,313,080 3,115,805

4,693,186 5,037,246

24 Other expenses

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Net foreign exchange loss on striking off of subsidiaries – 69,881

Net foreign exchange loss - others – 237,409

Plant and equipment written off – 117,927

Others 6,922 5,622

6,922 430,839



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

CNMC GOLDMINE HOLDINGS LIMITED130

25 Finance income and costs

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Finance income

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 556,136 550,532

Finance costs

Interest expenses on lease liabilities (15,061) (4,478)

Interest expenses on convertible loan (74,544) (85,765)

(89,605) (90,243)

Net fi nance income recognised in profi t or loss 466,531 460,289

 

26 Tax expense

Group

Note 2019 2018

US$ US$

Current tax expense

Current year 2,551,322 1,906,954

Adjustment for prior years (697,380) (21,505)

1,853,942 1,885,449

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (481,797) (314,420)

Adjustment for prior years 29,740 10,945

8 (452,057) (303,475)

Total tax expense 1,401,885 1,581,974
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26 Tax expense (cont’d)

 The Group’s operations are mainly in Malaysia. The tax expense on the profi t differs from the amount that would 

arise using Malaysian income tax rates is explained below:

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profi t for the year 5,472,450 3,011,116

Total tax expense 1,401,885 1,581,974

Profi t excluding tax 6,874,335 4,593,090

Tax using Malaysian tax rate of 24% (2018: 24%) 1,649,840 1,102,342

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 58,398 218,904

Pioneer Status Incentive – (923,045)

Tax exempt income (16,966) –

Non-deductible expenses 143,251 193,430

(Over)/under provision in respect of prior years:

- current tax expense (697,380) (21,505)

- deferred tax expense 29,740 10,945

Withholding tax 151,624 322,531

Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised 151,701 509,086

Others (68,323) 169,286

1,401,885 1,581,974

 In 2014, CMNM Mining Group Sdn. Bhd. obtained the Pioneer Status Incentive (“PSI”) granted by Malaysian 

Investment Development Authority which entitles the Sokor gold fi eld project to 100% income tax exemption on 

statutory income for a period of fi ve years beginning 1 July 2013. The PSI expired on 30 June 2018.

 As at 31 December 2019, the current tax payable and net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are US$989,724 

(2018: US$839,227) and US$249,968 (2018: (US$202,089)) respectively. 

27 Profi t for the year

 The following items have been included in arriving at profi t for the year:

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Audit fees paid/payable to:

- auditors of the Company 82,643 176,517

- other auditors 47,626 40,117

Professional fees relating to dual listing exercise paid/payable to:

- auditors of the Company – 176,962

- other auditors – 279,839

Non-audit fees paid/payable to:

- auditors of the Company 4,743 8,173

- other auditors 27,605 31,046
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27 Profi t for the year (cont’d)

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Employee benefi ts expense

Contributions to defi ned contribution plans 385,491 342,272

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions – 486,511

28 Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share

 The calculation of basic earnings per share at 31 December 2019 was based on the profi t attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of US$4,440,330 (2018: US$1,681,210) and a weighted-average number of ordinary 

shares outstanding of 407,693,000 (2018: 406,843,216).

 The Group’s weighted-average number of ordinary shares is calculated as follows:

Group

2019 2018

No. of shares No. of shares

Issued number of ordinary shares 407,693,000 407,693,000

Effect of own shares held – (849,784)

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares during the year 407,693,000 406,843,216

 Diluted earnings per share

 There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence for the fi nancial years ended 31 December 2019 

and 2018.

29 Dividends

 The following exempt (one-tier) dividends were declared, and paid and payable by the Group and Company:

For the year ended 31 December Group and Company

2019 2018

US$ US$

Paid by the Company to owners of the Company

Dividends on ordinary shares:

- Final dividends for the year ended 2018: S$0.00200 (equivalent to 

US$0.00147) (2018: S$0.00200 (equivalent to US$0.00153)) 

per ordinary share 598,901 617,974

- First interim dividends for the year ended 2019: S$0.00200 (equivalent to 

US$0.00147) (2018: S$Nil (equivalent to US$Nil)) per ordinary share 598,575 –

1,197,476 617,974
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29 Dividends (cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Payable by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests

Dividends on ordinary shares:

- Interim dividends for the year ended 2019: RM5,030.00 (equivalent to 

US$1,201.4419) (2018: RM42.00 (equivalent to US$10.0380)) per ordinary 

share 739,257 982,899

Dividends on preference shares:

- Preference dividends for the year ended 2019: RM31.00 (equivalent to 

US$7.4014) (2018: RM42.00 (equivalent to US$10.0380)) per preference 

share 21,094 29,289

760,351 1,012,188

 After the respective reporting dates, the following exempt (one-tier) dividends were proposed by the directors. 

These exempt (one-tier) dividends have not been provided for.

Group and Company

2019 2018

US$ US$

Payable by the Company to owners of the Company

- Final dividends for the year ended 2019: S$0.00200 (equivalent to  

US$0.001483) (2018: S$0.00200 (equivalent to US$0.001465)) 

  per ordinary share 604,437 597,090

- Special dividends for the year ended 2019: S$0.00400 (equivalent to 

US$0.002965) (2018: S$Nil (equivalent to US$Nil)) per ordinary share 1,208,875 –

1,813,312 597,090

30 Operating segments

 Business segments

 The Group has one reportable segment as described below. For the reportable segment, the Group’s executive 

directors review internal management reports on at least a quarterly basis. The following summary describes 

the operations in the Group’s reportable segment:

 Gold mining: Exploration, development, mining and marketing of gold.

 Other operations include investment holding company and provision of corporate services.

 Information regarding the results of the reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured 

based on segment profi t before tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the 

Group’s executive directors. Segment profi t is used to measure performance as management believes that 

such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that 

operate within these industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.
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30 Operating segments (cont’d)

 Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can 

be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items mainly comprise tax assets and liabilities and corporate 

revenue, assets, expenses and liabilities.

 Information about reportable segments

Gold mining

Other 

operations

Inter-segment 

eliminations Total

US$ US$ US$ US$

Group

31 December 2019

Total revenue from external customers 39,098,825 – – 39,098,825

Interest income 537,536 86,134 (67,534) 556,136

Management fee 1,592,159 3,350,031 (4,942,190) –

Interest expense (152,898) (5,024) 68,317 (89,605)

Amortisation and depreciation (4,526,122) (167,064) – (4,693,186)

Reportable segment profi t before tax 7,973,229 2,457,066 (3,555,960) 6,874,335

Reportable segment assets 61,273,833 39,100,420 (37,159,900) 63,214,353

Capital expenditure* 11,081,955 15,561 (354,575) 10,742,941

Reportable segment liabilities (24,474,125) (15,065,293) 28,227,073 (11,312,345)

31 December 2018

Total revenue from external customers 39,547,621 – – 39,547,621

Interest income 621,123 340,332 (410,923) 550,532

Management fee 1,773,544 3,557,599 (5,331,143) –

Interest expense (501,166) – 410,923 (90,243)

Amortisation and depreciation (4,981,903) (55,343) – (5,037,246)

Reportable segment profi t before tax 7,350,978 821,857 (3,579,745) 4,593,090

Reportable segment assets 60,365,565 34,657,090 (34,513,979) 60,508,676

Capital expenditure* 8,620,464 181,252 (43,836) 8,757,880

Reportable segment liabilities (25,116,563) (12,392,555) 25,935,131 (11,573,987)

 * Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and equipment, mine properties and, exploration and 

evaluation assets.
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30 Operating segments (cont’d)

 Reconciliation of reportable segment assets and liabilities

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Assets

Total assets for reportable segments 63,214,353 60,508,676

Unallocated assets 249,968 –

Consolidated total assets 63,464,321 60,508,676

Liabilities

Total liabilities for reportable segments (11,312,345) (11,573,987)

Unallocated liabilities – (202,089)

Consolidated total liabilities (11,312,345) (11,776,076)

 ** The Group initially applied SFRS(I) 16 at 1 January 2019, which requires the recognition of right-of-use assets and 

lease liabilities for lease contracts that were previously classifi ed as operating leases (see note 2.5). As a result, the 

Group recognised US$241,412 of right-of-use assets and US$241,412 of liabilities from those lease contracts. The 

assets and liabilities are included in the reportable segment assets and liabilities for the year ended 31 December 

2019.

 Geographical segments

 The operations of the Group are principally located in Malaysia.

 Major customer

 There is one (2018: one) major customer which accounts for 100% (2018: 100%) of the Group’s revenue.

31 Leases

 The Group leases offi ces and offi ce equipment. The leases typically run for a period of two to fi ve years, with no 

option to renew the lease after that date. For certain leases, the Group is restricted from entering into any sub-

lease arrangements.

 The offi ce leases were entered into a few years ago as combined leases of land and buildings. Previously, 

these leases were classifi ed as operating leases under SFRS(I) 1-17.

 The Group leases motor vehicles under a number of leases, which were classifi ed as fi nance leases under 

SFRS(I) 1-17.

 The Group leases motor vehicles and other equipment with no fi xed contract terms. These leases are short-

term and/or leases of low value items. The Group has elected not to recognise of right-of-use assets and lease 

liabilities for these leases.

 Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below.
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31 Leases (cont’d)

 Right-of-use assets

 Right-of-use assets related to leased offi ces and offi ce equipment are presented as property, plant and 
equipment (see note 6).

Offices

Office 

equipment Total

2019 2019 2019

US$ US$ US$

Group

Balance at 1 January 239,728 1,684 241,412

Depreciation charge for the year (117,221) (2,022) (119,243)

Additions to right-of-use assets – 10,129 10,129

Effect of movement in exchange rate 94 – 94

Balance at 31 December 122,601 9,791 132,392

Company

Balance at 1 January 202,040 1,684 203,724

Depreciation charge for the year (101,020) (2,022) (103,042)

Additions to right-of-use assets – 10,129 10,129

Balance at 31 December 101,020 9,791 110,811

 Amounts recognised in profi t or loss

2019

US$

2019 – Leases under SFRS(I) 16

Interest on lease liabilities 15,061

Expenses relating to short-term leases 1,911,323

2018 – Operating leases under SFRS(I) 1-17

Lease expense 1,785,562

 Amounts recognised in statement of cash fl ows

2019

US$

Total cash outfl ow for leases (187,054)

32 Commitments

 Capital commitments

 As at the respective reporting dates, the Group entered into contracts for:

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Property, plant and equipment 602,504 2,187,483

Exploration and evaluation assets, and mine properties 540,000 –
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33 Related parties

 Key management personnel compensation

 Key management personnel are directors and those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly. The amounts stated below for key 

management compensation are for all the executive directors and other key management personnel.

 Key management personnel compensation comprised:

Group

2019 2018

US$ US$

Short-term employee benefi ts 2,960,207 2,849,475

Post-employment benefi ts 91,480 81,666

Share-based payments – 277,811

Directors’ fees 140,573 132,680

3,192,260 3,341,632

 Included in key management personnel compensation is remuneration of certain directors of the Company 

amounting to US$2,473,213 (2018: US$2,348,654). Director’s remuneration includes salaries, bonuses, fees and 

other emoluments.

 During the year, an amount of US$Nil (2018: US$277,811) was paid to certain key management personnel 

under the Performance Share Plan (note 13).

34 Financial instruments 

 Overview

 The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of fi nancial instruments:

  credit risk

  liquidity risk

  market risk

 This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 

policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.

 Risk management framework

 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 

management framework.

 The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to 

set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies 

and systems are reviewed regularly to refl ect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The 

Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 

constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

 The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management 

policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks 

faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit which is an external 

service provider. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 

procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.
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34 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of fi nancial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a fi nancial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

 As the Group does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of fi nancial 

instruments is the carrying amount of that class of fi nancial instruments presented on the consolidated 

statement of fi nancial position.

 The trade receivables of the Group arises from 1 debtor (2018: 1 debtor) that represents 100% (2018: 100%) of 

trade receivables.

 Cash and cash equivalents are placed with banks which are regulated.

 Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis and 

refl ects the short maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low 

credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. The amount of the allowance on cash and 

cash equivalents is negligible.

 A summary of the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables is as follows:

Group

2019 2018

Not credit- 

impaired

Credit- 

impaired

Not credit- 

impaired

Credit- 

impaired

US$ US$ US$ US$

Customer with four or more years’ trading 

history with the Group 236,631 – 1,329,256 –

Total gross carrying amount 236,631 – 1,329,256 –

Loss allowance – – – –

236,631 – 1,329,256 –

Company

2019 2018

Not credit- 

impaired

Credit- 

impaired

Not credit- 

impaired

Credit- 

impaired

US$ US$ US$ US$

Subsidiaries 6,990,486 – 4,052,128 –

Total gross carrying amount 6,990,486 – 4,052,128 –

Loss allowance – – – –

6,990,486 – 4,052,128 –

 Expected credit loss assessment for the individual customer 

 The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade receivable from its individual customer, 

which comprise of a single balance.

 Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable progressing through 

successive stages of delinquency to write-off and are based on actual credit loss experience over the past 

three years, adjusted by the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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34 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 Expected credit loss assessment for the individual customer (cont’d)

 The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables for 

customer as at 31 December:

Group

Weighted 

average loss 

rate 

Gross 

carrying 

amount

Impairment 

loss allowance

Credit 

impaired

US$ US$

2019

Current (not past due) 0% 236,631 – No

2018

Current (not past due) 0% 1,329,256 – No

Company

Weighted 

average loss 

rate

Gross 

carrying 

amount

Impairment 

loss allowance

Credit 

impaired

US$ US$

2019

Current (not past due) 0% 312,615 – No

1 – 30 days past due 0% 200,796 – No

31 – 60 days past due 0% 271,911 – No

61 – 90 days past due 0% 298,671 – No

More than 90 days past due 0% 5,906,493 – No

6,990,486 –

2018

Current (not past due) 0% 584,616 – No

1 – 30 days past due 0% 216,047 – No

31 – 60 days past due 0% 169,721 – No

61 – 90 days past due 0% 213,024 – No

More than 90 days past due 0% 2,868,720 – No

4,052,128 –

 Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter diffi culty in meeting the obligations associated with its 

fi nancial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another fi nancial asset. The Group’s approach to 

managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have suffi cient liquidity to meet its liabilities 

when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 

damage to the Group’s reputation.
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34 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 Management of liquidity risk

 The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have suffi cient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable 

losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

 Typically, the Group ensures that it has suffi cient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, 

including the servicing of fi nancial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that 

cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

 Exposure to liquidity risk

 The following are the contractual maturities of fi nancial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 

excluding the impact of netting arrangements:

Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

cash fl ows

Within 

1 year

Within 

1 to 5 years

More than 

5 years

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Group 

At 31 December 2019

Non-derivative fi nancial 

liabilities

Loans and borrowings 962,400 (1,234,850) (236,157) (998,693) –

Trade and other payables 6,750,528 (6,750,528) (6,750,528) – –

Dividends payable 534,482 (534,482) (534,482) – –

8,247,410 (8,519,860) (7,521,167) (998,693) –

At 31 December 2018

Non-derivative fi nancial 

liabilities

Loans and borrowings 784,072 (1,082,128) (105,553) (976,575) –

Trade and other payables 7,189,033 (7,189,033) (7,189,033) – –

Dividends payable 1,052,957 (1,052,957) (1,052,957) – –

9,026,062 (9,324,118) (8,347,543) (976,575) –

Company 

At 31 December 2019

Non-derivative fi nancial liability

Loans and borrowings 113,796 (118,386) (108,156) (10,230) –

Trade and other payables 6,793,787 (6,793,787) (6,793,787) – –

6,907,583 (6,912,173) (6,901,943) (10,230) –

At 31 December 2018

Non-derivative fi nancial liability

Trade and other payables 7,147,333 (7,147,333) (7,147,333) – –

 Market risks

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate and foreign exchange rates will 

affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of fi nancial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising 

the return. 
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34 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 Interest rate risk

 The Group does not have any of its borrowings in variable rate instruments. Accordingly, the exposure to 
interest rate risk is minimum and no sensitivity analysis is performed.

 Commodity price risk

 The Group is exposed to the changes in market prices of gold and the outlook of this mineral. The Company 
does not have any hedging or other commodity-based risk in respect of its operations.

 Gold prices historically fl uctuate widely and are affected by, but not limited to, industrial and retail demand, 
central bank lending, forward sales by producers and speculators, level of worldwide production, short-term 
changes in supply and demand because of speculative hedging activities and certain other factors related to 
gold.

 Currency risk

 The Group’s revenue is denominated in United States Dollars (“USD”). However, the Group’s main operations 
are in Malaysia and Singapore where the operating expenses are primarily incurred in USD, Singapore Dollars 
(“SGD”), Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”) and Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”). The results of the Group’s operations are 
subject to currency transaction risk and currency translation risk. The operating results and fi nancial position of 
the Group are reported in USD in the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements.

 The fl uctuation of the abovementioned currencies in relation to the USD will consequently have an impact on 
the profi tability of the Group and may also affect the value of the Group’s assets and the amount of equity 
attributable to owners of the Company.

 The Group has not entered into any agreements or purchased any instruments to hedge possible currency risks 
at the respective reporting dates.

 Exposure to currency risk

 The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts:

SGD HKD MYR

US$ US$ US$

Group

At 31 December 2019

Loans and receivables 24,754 – 1,176,093

Cash and cash equivalents 230,458 – 15,766,226

Loans and borrowings (113,796) – (848,604)

Trade and other payables (1,083,117) (11,614) (3,865,134)

Net fi nancial (liabilities)/assets (941,701) (11,614) 12,228,581

Less: Net fi nancial liabilities/(assets) denominated in the 
respective entities’ functional currencies – – (414,220)

Net currency exposure (941,701) (11,614) 11,814,361

Sensitivity analysis 94,170 1,161 (1,181,436)

At 31 December 2018

Loans and receivables 31,312 – 2,325,426

Cash and cash equivalents 228,697 – 17,657,209

Loans and borrowings – – (784,072)

Trade and other payables (1,215,916) (259,310) (4,041,619)

Net fi nancial (liabilities)/assets (955,907) (259,310) 15,156,944

Less: Net fi nancial liabilities/(assets) denominated in the 
respective entities’ functional currencies – – (666,827)

Net currency exposure (955,907) (259,310) 14,490,117

Sensitivity analysis 95,591 25,931 (1,449,012)



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

CNMC GOLDMINE HOLDINGS LIMITED142

34 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 Exposure to currency risk (cont’d)

SGD HKD MYR

US$ US$ US$

Company

At 31 December 2019

Loans and receivables 970,947 – 4,965,828

Cash and cash equivalents 172,015 – –

Loans and borrowings (113,796) – –

Trade and other payables (6,360,577) (7,704) (3,896)

Net fi nancial assets (5,331,411) (7,704) 4,961,932

Less: Net fi nancial assets denominated in the respective 

entities’ functional currencies – – –

Net currency exposure (5,331,411) (7,704) 4,961,932

Sensitivity analysis 533,141 770 (496,193)

At 31 December 2018

Loans and receivables 3,419,954 – 4,233,495

Cash and cash equivalents 164,328 – –

Trade and other payables (6,312,052) (255,400) (158,271)

Net fi nancial assets (2,727,770) (255,400) 4,075,224

Less: Net fi nancial assets denominated in the respective 

entities’ functional currencies – – –

Net currency exposure (2,727,770) (255,400) 4,075,224

Sensitivity analysis 272,777 25,540 (407,522)

 A 10% strengthening of USD against the SGD, HKD and MYR at the respective reporting dates would increase/

(decrease) profi t before tax and increase/(decrease) retained earnings by the amounts shown above. This 

analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

 A 10% weakening of USD against the SGD, HKD and MYR would have had the equal but opposite effect to the 

amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 

 Estimation of fair values

 The following summarises the signifi cant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of 

fi nancial instruments of the Group.

 

 Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities

 Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future 

principal and interest cash fl ows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 

 Other fi nancial assets and liabilities

 The carrying amounts of fi nancial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including trade and 

other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and dividends 

payable) are assumed to approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity.
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34 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 Accounting classifi cations and fair values

 The carrying amounts and fair values of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities, including their levels in the 

fair value hierarchy are as follows. It does not include fair value information for fi nancial assets and fi nancial 

liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Financial 

assets at 

amortised 

cost

Other 

fi nancial 

liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Group

At 31 December 2019

Financial assets not measured 

at fair value

Trade and other receivables* 11 1,489,237 – 1,489,237

Cash and cash equivalents 12 16,016,461 – 16,016,461

17,505,698 – 17,505,698

Financial liabilities measured 

at fair value

Derivative fi nancial instrument 18 – (27,516) (27,516) – – (27,516) (27,516)

Financial liabilities not 

measured at fair value

Convertible loan 17 – (602,046) (602,046) – (466,363) – (466,363)

Lease liabilities 17 – (360,354) (360,354) – (385,643) – (385,643)

Trade and other payables 20 – (6,750,528) (6,750,528)

Dividends payable – (534,482) (534,482)

– (8,247,410) (8,247,410)

At 31 December 2018

Financial assets not measured 

at fair value

Trade and other receivables* 11 2,950,264 – 2,950,264

Cash and cash equivalents 12 17,910,184 – 17,910,184

20,860,448 – 20,860,448

Financial liabilities measured 

at fair value

Derivative fi nancial instrument 18 – (27,222) (27,222) – – (27,222) (27,222)

Financial liabilities not 

measured at fair value

Convertible loan 17 – (595,618) (595,618) – (449,619) – (449,619)

Finance lease liabilities 17 – (188,454) (188,454) – (204,649) – (204,649)

Trade and other payables 20 – (7,189,033) (7,189,033)

Dividends payable – (1,052,957) (1,052,957)

– (9,026,062) (9,026,062)
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34 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 Accounting classifi cations and fair values (cont’d)

Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Loans and 

receivables

Other 

fi nancial 

liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Company

At 31 December 2019

Financial assets not measured 

at fair value

Trade and other receivables* 11 12,792,519 – 12,792,519

Cash and cash equivalents 12 175,166 – 175,166

12,967,685 – 12,967,685

Financial liability not measured 

at fair value

Trade and other payables 20 – (6,793,787) (6,793,787)

Lease liabilities 17 – (113,796) (113,796)

– (6,907,583) (6,907,583)

At 31 December 2018

Financial assets not measured 

at fair value

Trade and other receivables* 11 11,413,424 – 11,413,424

Cash and cash equivalents 12 167,479 – 167,479

11,580,903 – 11,580,903

Financial liability not measured 

at fair value

Trade and other payables 20 – (7,147,333) (7,147,333)

 * Excluded prepaid expenses of US$18,743 (2018: US$22,117) and US$18,743 (2018: US$15,367) for the Group and the 

Company respectively.

 Measurement of fair values

 Valuation techniques and signifi cant unobservable inputs 

 The following tables show the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair values, as well 

as the signifi cant unobservable inputs used.
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34 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 Financial instruments measured at fair value

Type Valuation technique

Signifi cant 

unobservable inputs

Inter-relationship between key 

unobservable inputs and fair 

value measurement

Group

Derivative fi nancial 

instrument

Discounted cash fl ows: The 

valuation model considers 

the cost of acquisition at 

the acquisition date of the 

subsidiary adjusted for the 

changes in net assets from 

the acquisition date to the 

balance sheet date and the 

present value of expected 

payment upon maturity 

date, discounted using a 

risk-adjusted discount rate. 

• Risk-adjusted 

discount rate at 

7.01% (2018: 

7.30%).

The estimated fair value would 

increase (decrease) if the 

risk-adjusted discount rate was 

lower (higher). 

 Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Type Valuation technique

Group

Convertible loan 

and lease liabilities

Discounted cash fl ows: The valuation model considers the present value of expected 

payment upon maturity date, discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate.

 Sensitivity analysis

 For the fair value of derivative fi nancial instrument, reasonably possible change at the reporting date to the 

unobservable input, holding other inputs constant, would have the following effects.

 Derivative fi nancial instrument

Group

Profi t or loss

Increase Decrease

US$ US$

At 31 December 2019

Derivative fi nancial instrument

Risk-adjusted discount rate (1% movement) 483 (483)

At 31 December 2018

Derivative fi nancial instrument

Risk-adjusted discount rate (1% movement) 1,988 (1,740)
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35 Subsequent events

 On 31 January 2020, the Group announced that the Company’s underground mining operations in Malaysia are 

affected by the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) outbreak. Nevertheless, the Company’s open-pit mining, heap 

leaching, vat leaching and carbon-in-leach operations at Sokor gold fi eld are proceeding as normal as almost 

all of its crew members are local Malaysians. 

 On 16 March 2020, the federal government of Malaysia initiated the Movement Control Order (“MCO”) and 

requires all businesses, government departments and private premises (excluding those providing essential 

services) to close for two weeks from 18 March 2020 to 31 March 2020 as part of its effort to contain the 

outbreak. The Company has since stopped all the mining activities in Kelantan.

 On 25 March 2020, the government of Malaysia further announced that MCO would be extended to 14 April 

2020 to contain the worsening spread of COVID-19.

 

 The emergence of COVID-19 has brought about some uncertainties to the Group’s operating environment and 

may impact the Group’s operations and its fi nancial position subsequent to the fi nancial year end. The Group 

will continuously assess the situation, work closely with the local authorities in Malaysia to support their efforts 

in containing the spread of COVID-19, and put in place appropriate measures to minimise any adverse impact 

to the Group’s business. As the situation is still evolving, the full effect of the outbreak that might have upon the 

Group’s operations is presently unascertainable.
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Issued and paid-up capital : S$23,335,633

Number of shares : 407,693,000

Number of voting shares : 407,693,000

Class of shares : Ordinary shares

Voting rights : One vote per share

The Company does not hold any treasury shares and there are no subsidiary holdings.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 20 March 2020

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDERS

% OF 

SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES

% OF 

SHAREHOLDINGS

1 - 99 2 0.08 14 0.00

100 - 1,000 71 2.75 41,628 0.01

1,001 - 10,000 786 30.43 5,823,874 1.43

10,001 - 1,000,000 1,687 65.31 114,069,133 27.98

1,000,001 and above 37 1.43 287,758,351 70.58

Total 2,583 100.00 407,693,000 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 20 March 2020

DIRECT INTEREST DEEMED INTEREST

NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES % NO. OF SHARES %

Innovation (China) Limited(1) 106,987,500 26.24 – –

Messiah Limited(2) 46,662,500 11.45 – –

Professor Lin Xiang Xiong(1) 1,629,900 0.40 106,987,500 26.24

Choo Chee Kong(2) 205,000 0.05 46,662,500 11.45

Lim Kuoh Yang(1) 20,000 0.01 108,617,400 26.64

Tan Swee Ngin(1) – – 106,987,500 26.24

Lim Sok Cheng Julie(2) – – 46,662,500 11.45

Note:

(1) Innovation (China) Limited is a private investment holding company incorporated in Hong Kong whose shareholders are 

Professor Lin Xiang Xiong (65%) and his wife, Tan Swee Ngin (35%). Lim Kuoh Yang is the son of Professor Lin Xiang Xiong 

and Tan Swee Ngin. As such, Professor Lin Xiang Xiong and Tan Swee Ngin are deemed interested in all the shares held by 

Innovation (China) Limited by virtue of their respective interests in Innovation (China) Limited and Lim Kuoh Yang is deemed 

interested in all the shares deemed to be held by Professor Lin Xiang Xiong and Tan Swee Ngin under Section 7 of the 

Companies Act.

(2) Messiah Limited is a private investment holding company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands whose shareholders are 

Choo Chee Kong (51%) and his wife, Lim Sok Cheng Julie (49%). As such, Choo Chee Kong and Lim Sok Cheng Julie are 

deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Messiah Limited under Section 7 of the Companies Act. The shares of 

Messiah Limited are registered in the name of Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd.
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
As at 20 March 2020

NAME OF SHAREHOLDER  NO.  OF SHARES 

 % OF 

SHAREHOLDINGS

1 INNOVATION (CHINA) LIMITED 106,987,500 26.24

2 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 48,141,000 11.81

3 NG ENG TIONG 14,220,900 3.49

4 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 12,714,055 3.12

5 LIU WENYING 12,100,000 2.97

6 CHUA TEO LENG 10,708,100 2.63

7 LIM PENG LIANG DAVID LLEWELLYN 9,036,100 2.22

8 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 8,383,800 2.06

9 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 6,029,000 1.48

10 XU DEHAN 4,706,925 1.15

11 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 4,332,200 1.06

12 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 3,151,300 0.77

13 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 2,970,700 0.73

14 LEE JING YI 2,943,200 0.72

15 CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 2,843,171 0.70

16 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED 2,535,400 0.62

17 TAN LIAN SENG 2,360,900 0.58

18 LIM YEAN LENG 2,319,000 0.57

19 YEO HUNG HEE BENJAMIN 2,300,000 0.56

20 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 2,110,600 0.52

TOTAL 260,893,851 64.00

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING HELD BY THE PUBLIC

Based on the information provided to the Company as at 20 March 2020, approximately 61.478% of the issued 

ordinary shares of the Company are held by the public. Accordingly, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of 

Catalist of the SGX-ST has been complied with.
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The following additional information on Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck and Mr Tan Poh Chye Allan, each of whom is seeking 

re-election as Director at the Annual General Meeting of the Company on or before 29 June 2020, is to be read in 

conjunction with their respective profi les in “Board of Directors” section and “Key information regarding Directors” on 

pages 16 and 67. 

Appendix 7F Requirements

Details required under Appendix 

7F of the Catalist Rules Kuan Cheng Tuck Tan Poh Chye Allan

Date of Initial Appointment 

Date of last re-appointment
(if applicable)

Age

Country of principal residence

The Board’s comments on this 
appointment (including rationale, 
selection criteria, and the search 
and nomination process)

Whether appointment is executive, 
and if so, the area of responsibility

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC 
Chairman, AC Member etc.)

Professional qualifi cations

Working experience and 
occupation(s) during the past 10 
years

20 September 2011

28 April 2017

48

Singapore

The re-election of Mr Kuan as 
an independent director of the 
Company was recommended by 
the Nominating Committee and 
accepted by the Board, having 
regard to his performance, 
knowledge, skills and experiences, 
and overall contributions since his 
last re-appointment.

Non-executive

- Lead Independent Director
- Chairman of Audit Committee
- Member of the Nominating 

Committee
- Member of the Remuneration 

Committee

- Bachelor of Accountancy 
Degree in Accounting, Nanyang 
Technological University of 
Singapore.

- Bachelor of Laws (Honours), 
University of London, UK.

- Masters of Laws (Corporate and 
Financial Services Law), National 
University of Singapore.

- Fellow Member of Association of 
Chartered Certifi ed Accountant, 
UK.

- Member of Institute of Singapore 
Chartered Accountants.

- Advocate and Solicitor, 
Singapore.

Director of KCT Consulting Pte Ltd 
(From February 2004 to Present) 

20 September 2011

28 April 2017

55

Singapore

The re-election of Mr Tan as 
an independent director of the 
Company was recommended by 
the Nominating Committee and 
accepted by the Board, having 
regard to his performance, 
knowledge, skills and experiences, 
and overall contributions since his 
last re-appointment.

Non-executive

- Independent Director
- Chairman of Remuneration 

Committee
- Member of the Audit Committee
- Member of the Nominating 

Committee

- Bachelor of Laws (Honours), 
University of Buckingham, UK.

- Master’s of Arts in International 
and Comparative Business Law, 
London Guildhall University 
(now known as the London 
Metropolitan University), UK.

- Barrister-at-law, Society of Gray’s 
Inn, UK.

- Advocate and Solicitor, 
Singapore.

- Colin Ng and Partners LLP, 
Partner (From April 2006 to 
October 2013)

- Stephenson Harwood 
(Singapore) Alliance, Partner 
(From October 2013 to August 
2018)
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Appendix 7F Requirements

Details required under Appendix 

7F of the Catalist Rules Kuan Cheng Tuck Tan Poh Chye Allan

Shareholding interest in the listed 

issuer and its subsidiaries

Any relationship (including 

immediate family relationships) 

with any existing director, existing 

executive offi cer, the issuer and/

or substantial shareholder of the 

listed issuer or of any of its principal 

subsidiaries

Confl ict of interest (including any 

competing business) 

No 

Nil

Nil

No

Nil

Nil

Undertaking (in the format set out in 

Appendix 7H) under Rule 720(1) has 

been submitted to the listed issuer

Yes Yes

Other Principal Commitments* 

Including Directorships#

* “Principal Commitments” has the 

same meaning as defi ned in the 

Code - “principal commitments” 

includes all commitments 

which involve signifi cant time 

commitment such as full-time 

occupation, consultancy work, 

committee work, non-listed 

company board representations 

and directorships and 

involvement in non-profi t 

organisations.

  

# These fi elds are not applicable 

for announcements of 

appointments pursuant to Listing 

Rule 704(8) 

Past (for the last 5 years) - CW Group Holdings Limited 

(listed on HKEx), Independent 

Non-executive Director

- Green Build Technology Limited, 

Independent Director

- China Star Food Group Limited, 

Independent Director

- Affi nity Energy and Health 

Limited (listed on ASX)(formerly 

known as Algae.Tec Limited), 

Independent   Non -executive 

Director

- Novita Healthcare Limited (listed 

on ASX), Independent Non-

executive Director 

-  XYEC Holdings Co., Ltd., 

Independent Non-executive 

Director

Present - Kori Holdings Limited, 

Independent Director

- KCT Consulting Pte. Ltd., 

Director

- Kreston Consulting Pte. Ltd., 

Director

- Nico Steel Holdings Limited, 

Independent Director 

- Allan Tan Law Practice (Sole 

Proprietor)
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Appendix 7F Requirements

Details required under Appendix 

7F of the Catalist Rules Kuan Cheng Tuck Tan Poh Chye Allan

(a) Whether at any time during 

the last 10 years, an 

application or a petition under 

any bankruptcy law of any 

jurisdiction was fi led against 

him or against a partnership of 

which he was a partner at the 

time when he was a partner or 

at any time within 2 years from 

the date he ceased to be a 

partner?

(b) Whether at any time during the 

last 10 years, an application 

or a petition under any law 

of any jurisdiction was fi led 

against an entity (not being a 

partnership) of which he was 

a director or an equivalent 

person or a key executive, 

at the time when he was a 

director or an equivalent 

person or a key executive 

of that entity or at any time 

within 2 years from the date 

he ceased to be a director or 

an equivalent person or a key 

executive of that entity, for the 

winding up or dissolution of 

that entity or, where that entity 

is the trustee of a business 

trust, that business trust, on 

the ground of insolvency?

(c) Whether there is any 

unsatisfi ed judgment against 

him?

(d) Whether he has ever been 

convicted of any offence, 

in Singapore or elsewhere, 

involving fraud or dishonesty 

which is punishable with 

imprisonment, or has been 

the subject of any criminal 

proceedings (including any 

pending criminal proceedings 

of which he is aware) for such 

purpose?

No

Mr Kuan was a former independent 

non-executive director of CW Group 

Holdings Limited (“CWG”) (listed 

on the HKEx) which was placed in 

provisional liquidation in or around 

August 2018.  Mr Kuan resigned 

as an independent non-executive 

director of CWG on 9 November 

2018.

No

No

No

 Yes. Mr Tan was appointed 

nominee director of Prima Ops Pte, 

Ltd. (“Prima”), a private company, 

in March 2018 when it was fi rst 

incorporated. Prima was a start-

up company whose business was 

in the teaching of the English and 

Chinese languages via an app on 

mobile and hand-held devices (the 

“business”). Mr Tan was appointed 

nominee director of Prima as part 

of the legal services he provided to 

the controlling shareholder of Prima 

when said controlling shareholder 

acquired the business from the 

vendor in order to satisfy the 

resident director requirement under 

the Companies Act.  Mr Tan was 

not involved the management of the 

business.

Mr Tan resigned in February of 2019 

after Prima reconstituted its board.  

Prima was put into liquidation by 

its directors in February of 2020 

on grounds of inability to carry on 

business due to insolvency.

No

No
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Appendix 7F Requirements

Details required under Appendix 

7F of the Catalist Rules Kuan Cheng Tuck Tan Poh Chye Allan

(e) Whether he has ever been 

convicted of any offence, 

in Singapore or elsewhere, 

involving a breach of any law 

or regulatory requirement that 

relates to the securities or 

futures industry in Singapore 

or elsewhere, or has been 

the subject of any criminal 

proceedings (including any 

pending criminal proceedings 

of which he is aware) for such 

breach?

(f) Whether at any time during 

the last 10 years, judgment 

has been entered against 

him in any civil proceedings 

in Singapore or elsewhere 

involving a breach of any law 

or regulatory requirement that 

relates to the securities or 

futures industry in Singapore 

or elsewhere, or a fi nding 

of fraud, misrepresentation 

or dishonesty on his part, 

or he has been the subject 

of any civil proceedings 

(including any pending civil 

proceedings of which he is 

aware) involving an allegation 

of fraud, misrepresentation or 

dishonesty on his part?

(g) Whether he has ever been 

convicted in Singapore or 

elsewhere of any offence in 

connection with the formation 

or management of any entity or 

business trust?

(h) Whether he has ever been 

disqualifi ed from acting as 

a director or an equivalent 

person of any entity (including 

the trustee of a business trust), 

or from taking part directly or 

indirectly in the management 

of any entity or business trust?

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No
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Appendix 7F Requirements

Details required under Appendix 

7F of the Catalist Rules Kuan Cheng Tuck Tan Poh Chye Allan

(i) Whether he has ever been the 

subject of any order, judgment 

or ruling of any court, tribunal 

or governmental body, 

permanently or temporarily 

enjoining him fromengaging in 

any type of business practice 

or activity?

(j) Whether he has ever, to his 

knowledge, been concerned 

with the management or 

conduct, in Singapore or 

elsewhere, of the affairs of:-

 (i) any corporation which 

has been investigated 

for a breach of any law 

or regulatory requirement 

governing corporations in 

Singapore or elsewhere; 

or 

 (ii) any entity (not being a 

corporation) which has 

been investigated for 

a breach of any law or 

regulatory requirement 

governing such entities in 

Singapore or elsewhere; 

or

 (iii) any business trust which 

has been investigated 

for a breach of any law 

or regulatory requirement 

governing business 

trusts in Singapore or 

elsewhere; or

 (iv) any entity or business 

trust which has been 

investigated for a breach 

of any law or regulatory 

requirement that relates 

to the securities or 

futures industry in 

Singapore or elsewhere 

in connection with 

any matter occurring 

or arising during that 

period when he was so 

concerned with the entity 

or business trust?

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No
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Appendix 7F Requirements

Details required under Appendix 

7F of the Catalist Rules Kuan Cheng Tuck Tan Poh Chye Allan

(k) Whether he has been the 

subject of any current or past 

investigation or disciplinary 

proceedings, or has been 

reprimanded or issued any 

warning, by the Monetary 

Authority of Singapore or any 

other regulatory authority, 

exchange, professional 

body or government agency, 

whether in Singapore or 

elsewhere? 

No No

Any prior experience as a director 

of an issuer listed on the Exchange? 

(Yes/No)

If yes, please provide details of prior 

experience.

If no, please state if the director has 

attended or will be attending training 

on the roles and responsibilities 

of a director of a listed issuer as 

prescribed by the Exchange.

Please provide details of relevant 

experience and the nominating 

committee’s reasons for not requiring 

the director to undergo training 

as prescribed by the Exchange (if 

applicable). 

Not applicable. This is in relation to 

re-election of director.

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable, this is a re-election 

of a director. 

Not applicable. This is in relation to 

re-election of director.

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable, this is a re-election 

of a director.
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